

Embrace the Union

A New Progressive Approach for Reviving the Trans-Atlantic Alliance

By Max Bergmann October 2019



Embrace the Union

A New Progressive Approach for Reviving the Trans-Atlantic Alliance

By Max Bergmann October 2019

Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 2 A plan for strengthening Europe as an ally
- 9 From ambivalence to hostility: America's 21st-century approach toward Europe
- 13 Reengaging a changing Europe
- 32 Europe's renewed geopolitical centrality in an era of great power competition
- 40 A rising power strategy for Europe: The need for an EU-centric approach
- **62 Conclusion**
- 64 About the author
- 64 Acknowledgements
- 65 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

The United States needs a new progressive approach to revive and rebuild the trans-Atlantic alliance. Fully embracing the European Union and supporting European integration efforts that bolster the strength and resilience of Europe's union should be core to a new American approach.

With the world witnessing an autocratic resurgence, the United States needs a strong and united European partner now more than at any time since the end of the Cold War. However, America's approach to the European Union has oscillated from ambivalence to hostility and has failed to recognize that the European Union has the geopolitical potential of a rising power. When Europe is able to act as one, it has shown it can be a key force in global affairs and a powerful voice for liberal democratic values. A strong united Europe working in tandem with an America once again committed to its founding principles would create a robust liberal bulwark against the rising tide of authoritarianism.

But while Europe can rise, it can also fall. The European Union faces acute internal and external challenges, which threaten its stability. European integration has stalled as the European Union's current institutional structure leaves it vulnerable and stymies its ability to act internationally. Washington needs Europe not just to remain united, free, democratic, and prosperous but also to become a powerful actor on the world stage. It is time for America to use its influence to bolster and strengthen the European Union. The United States should view the European Union as a nascent rising power and should adopt a patient and concerted strategy to encourage its rise. As such, the United States should seek to strengthen Europe's union and support its rise by building and developing a new special relationship with the European Union.

A plan for strengthening Europe as an ally

The trans-Atlantic alliance is in crisis. It is a crisis of America's own making, and it is endangering one of America's greatest foreign policy achievements—the transformation of a war-torn and divided Europe into a continent united, democratic, and at peace.

Three years into the Trump administration, it has become clear that President Trump will not change course ... it is important to start thinking now about how to best repair, rebuild, and reinvigorate the alliance after a Trump presidency.

President Donald Trump's administration has abandoned America's traditional global leadership role, leaving U.S. allies shaken to the core. The Trump administration has taken a hostile approach toward Europe, treating America's European allies—in particular the European Union—more like adversaries than allies. As such, President Trump has shown himself to be one of the gravest threats to the trans-Atlantic alliance since the Second World War. He has shown disdain for NATO, treating it like a protection racket. He has called the European Union a "foe," actively seeking to undermine it. He has also supported the European Union's disintegration, including by supporting Brexit; attempting to stoke anti-EU, right-wing populist sentiment; backing anti-democratic governments in Hungary and Poland; initiating a trade war with the European Union; personally attacking European leaders; and downgrading the diplomatic status of the European Union. This has caused dismay within Europe, cratered public opinion of the United States, and initiated a debate about the future of Europe's relationship with the United States.

Three years into the Trump administration, it has become clear that President Trump will not change course and adopt a more positive and constructive approach toward the trans-Atlantic alliance. Yet, it is important to start thinking now about how to best repair, rebuild, and reinvigorate the alliance after a Trump presidency.

While the Washington foreign policy community has expressed shock and horror at Trump's hostile approach to European allies, the United States will not simply be

able to hit a reset button after Trump and revert back to previous American administrations' approaches toward Europe. The recently departed French ambassador to the United States, Gérard Araud, explained insightfully a misconception: that "when Trump leaves power, everything will go back to business as usual. That's the dream of Washington, D.C."3

Rebuilding the trans-Atlantic alliance after President Trump will require a new American approach toward Europe. This is necessary not only because of the damage caused by the Trump presidency, but also because the approaches of past administrations are outdated and ill-suited to a changing European continent facing a more hostile geopolitical environment. Europe has fundamentally transformed since the 1990s—the last time the United States thought deeply about Europe's strategic direction.

The last 20 years have seen the process of European integration accelerate. The European Union is a new form of governance essentially unprecedented in a history: a federal supranational governing body fusing together its 28 members into a political and economic union. Since the formation of the European Union, the process of European integration has accelerated and welded together a continent rife with ethnic division and state conflict—and without considerable democratic tradition into a liberal democratic continent that is a zone of peace and stability. It is a remarkable achievement that, after centuries of conflict and world wars that resulted in tens of millions of deaths and mass devastation, Europe was able to transcend its ethnic and national differences and build a new, innovative form of government that would serve to unite a continent.

Europe achieved this with the backing, and often through the insistence, of the United States, which pushed aggressively and consistently for European integration through the Marshall Plan and through intensive diplomatic engagement that supported the creation of the European Coal and Steel Community and the European Economic Community.⁴ Today, the European Union provides a model for the success of democracy, social market economies, and open societies. This is an achievement that the United States made possible.

However, Washington has spent the past two decades largely ignoring the process of European integration and therefore has missed Europe's dramatic transformation. After 9/11, America's attention shifted to counterterrorism and the Middle East. Europe was, for all intents and purposes, seen as solved. The United States wanted Europe to contribute more and complain less about American policy. Europe was seen from Washington through the prism of NATO, and, as such, the key focus

was not European integration but rather how to make NATO useful in supporting America's overstretched military forces. European integration was seen as a European project that did not involve the United States. Washington lost touch with the twists and turns of European integration and its resulting complex organizational structure. The lack of comprehension of European integration meant that the European Union effectively became a caricature for Europe, leading to the European Union being perpetually derided in Washington as feckless, ineffective, and irrelevant. The European Union was seen as a time-consuming bureaucracy that could cause diplomatic headaches. As such, the United States looked upon European integration ambivalently during the 21st century. Through both Democratic and Republican administrations, the United States has been a force perpetuating the status quo in Europe, acting more often as a brake on, rather than an accelerant for, European integration.

Furthermore, the European Union also became a proxy within a broader American foreign policy debate over multilateralism. This was one of the central foreign policy differences between Republicans and Democrats during the 2000s. The European Union was thus often seen through a domestic political lens in the United States, with American conservatives viewing it with instinctive derision and animosity and American liberals viewing it as a model for international cooperation. Additionally, American conservatives resent European opposition to certain foreign policy approaches of conservative administrations, such as the invasion of Iraq, the condemnation of detainee treatment, the withdrawal from the Iran agreement, attacks on international organizations, and the withdrawal from Paris climate agreement. In short, American conservatives fear that a stronger, more vocal European Union will hinder their ability to pursue shortsighted and ill-fated approaches that undermine American national security. But this is actually a feature of Europe's rise, given the irresponsible course pursued by conservative American administrations. However, the conservative turn against the European Union in recent years also means that the bipartisan consensus toward European integration that was largely in place since World War II no longer exists.

Where bipartisan consensus does exist is in America's continued support for NATO. Trump's badgering of NATO countries and his seemingly weak commitment to the alliance has prompted an outpouring of support for NATO from both Democratic and Republican politicians. Indeed, despite a continued lack of defense spending from European countries, NATO's force posture in Europe has been significantly bolstered in the last five years under both the Obama and Trump administrations. NATO therefore remains robust, despite Trump.⁵

But NATO is not Europe. As important as NATO is—and the security that the alliance provides creates the foundation for European integration—a NATO-centric approach from Washington misses the shifting power dynamics within Europe. The European Union in Brussels—not the European capitals nor NATO headquarters has become the political center of gravity for Europe. European states are no longer as powerful as they once were, as the United Kingdom, France, and other European countries lack the international clout they once had. As a result, they have individually become less impactful allies on the world stage. While Germany stands in contrast, as its geopolitical clout and influence within Europe and internationally has grown, its narrow conception of national interest and reticence to step out on the world stage has left both Germany and Europe punching well below their weight globally. Continuing to focus American diplomatic energy on individual European states will therefore leave Washington perpetually disappointed. The United States should also recognize that simply calling for Europe to "get its act together" and to plead with Germany, in particular, to do more is not going to work. Where Washington will find vision and drive for a stronger European role is not in the increasingly parochial individual European nations but rather in the capital of the European Union: Brussels. If Europe is going to assert itself and become a more critical ally, it will do that through the European Union and not through the nation-state.

Washington needs to stop imagining Europe as it was—a collection of nation-states. Instead, it needs to start viewing Europe how it is now—a single, if still weak and nascent, political and economic union—as well as how it wants Europe to be: united, cohesive, free and democratic, and a powerful ally on the world stage.

Yet the European Union is currently stuck in an institutional purgatory. While it has transformed and integrated Europe, resulting in the transfer of significant responsibilities to the European Union from the nation-state, there are also critical areas where responsibilities have not been transferred. This has left important gaps in the European Union's capabilities that make Europe vulnerable. For instance, the European Union has a currency and monetary union with the euro, but it has no supranational fiscal union or fiscal policy. Another economic crisis could therefore severely test the European Union, particularly with the rise of populist and anti-EU parties. Additionally, the lack of integration of the European Union's foreign and security policy has made it difficult for the European Union to forge unified posi-

tions. As a result, the European Union—with its enormous single market, with spending on defense second only in size to the United States, and with the highest spending on international development in the world—is unable to effectively leverage its power to assert itself on the international stage. 7 Nor is Europe likely to be able to get its "act together" on a timeline needed by the United States without an external crisis or significant encouragement from the United States.

Strengthening the European Union is now essential. Europe is no longer geopolitically peripheral, as it was perceived by Washington after 9/11, nor is Europe immune from geopolitics, as many in Europe perceived after the formation of the European Union.⁸ In fact, Europe has become geopolitically central due to the rise of authoritarianism. Autocratic states such as Russia and China seek to divide and weaken the European Union in a deliberate effort to prevent it from asserting itself internationally. A united, free, and democratic Europe is also more difficult for autocrats to work with, and the European Union's success provides a striking alternative model to their autocratic governments. As a result, autocrats seek to diplomatically exploit divisions within the European Union, amplify nationalist and populist voices, and gain leverage through targeted investments. Bizarrely, Russia, China, and the Trump administration are all currently working toward the same objective: weakening and potentially unraveling the European Union.

The collapse or unraveling of the European Union would be a geopolitical disaster for the United States. Not only could this cause a global economic shock, but it could also reintroduce the security dilemmas and balance of power politics to Europe that have been the norm throughout its history. The peaceful unification and integration of Europe, as facilitated by the United States, is perhaps one of America's greatest foreign policy accomplishments. President Dwight Eisenhower remarked in 1957 that he hoped he would "live long enough to see a United States of Europe come into existence."9 With the achievement of a united and integrated Europe now threatened by both internal and external challenges, the United States needs to do more than simply fret about the prospects of the European Union's unraveling; it should develop an approach that seeks to bolster the European Union's cohesion and unity.

To do so, Washington needs to stop imagining Europe as it was—a collection of nation-states. Instead, it needs to start viewing Europe how it is now—a single, if still weak and nascent, political and economic union—as well as how it wants Europe to be: united, cohesive, free and democratic, and a powerful ally on the world stage.

America needs a new approach toward Europe that embraces Europe's transformation and that unequivocally supports the European Union. The rise of the European Union as a strategic actor and global player is firmly in Washington's interests. As such, the United States should view the European Union as a possible rising power—a potential geopolitical force and essential strategic partner that could help counter challenges posed by rising authoritarianism. Europe has the potential to become a much stronger global ally, as a key voice for liberal democratic values, a model for successful multilateralism, and an important stalwart in upholding a rulesbased international order. Europe's rise, just like other rising powers, is far from assured. If it occurs, it will be gradual and take time. Yet the European Union in the short, medium, and long term should be America's partner of first resort.

In a previous paper, the Center for American Progress argued that in order to rebuild U.S. alliances and restore American leadership—especially in the face of growing geopolitical challenge from the rise of authoritarian rivals—the United States needs a new approach that embraces a democratic, values-based foreign policy and that rebalances America's diplomatic, military, and economic efforts toward democratic states. 10 At the core of this strategy lies the need for America to strengthen its relationship with Europe.

The United States should strive to forge a new special relationship with the European Union akin to its relationship with the United Kingdom. In so doing, the United States should try to develop common U.S.-EU approaches toward major challenges such as Russia, China, democratic decline, migration, corruption and money laundering, as well as key economic challenges. Establishing this relationship will require immediately reversing course on the withdrawal from the Iranian nuclear agreement and the Paris climate agreement.

On defense, the United States should fully support an expanded EU role. European states are unlikely to meet their defense spending commitments of 2 percent of gross domestic product (GDP), because, for most European states, defense is not about national defense but rather about collective defense. Instead of Washington resisting collectivizing and integrating defense through the European Union, as it has since the 1990s for fear of the European Union complicating NATO efforts, it should fully back EU efforts to rationalize and integrate European defense capabilities. Such an approach will serve to strengthen NATO by strengthening European defense capabilities.

On foreign policy, the European Union has considerable influence when it acts as one on the world stage. When European states act separately, their influence is diminished. The United States should therefore back steps to expand the European Union's role and presence in foreign policy.

On economic policy, the European Union is integrated economically, but significant gaps remain that pose severe potential vulnerabilities. The United States should support efforts to strengthen the European Union's economic resilience and to encourage its members to address the deflationary trap caused by austerity imposed by the euro. The United States should also endeavor to create a new economic partnership with Europe that not only ends the current trade disputes but also prioritizes social and economic cohesion.

A key variable in this report is the loss of U.S. influence and credibility. Not only is the United States not nearly as influential as it was during the Cold War, but it is also not as influential as it was four years ago. The presidency of Donald Trump has caused a dramatic rise in anti-American sentiment in Europe and led to calls to pivot away from allying with the United States. A new U.S. effort to partner with the European Union may find a dubious partner. Nevertheless, if America is to rebuild its geopolitical clout, it will need to revive the trans-Atlantic alliance. Furthermore, American influence in Europe remains substantial in spite of Trump. For example, U.S. opposition to EU defense efforts have effectively frozen them in place for more than two decades. A United States that engages Europe in strong support of European integration and uses its diplomatic leverage and clout to further those goals, just as the United States did after World War II, could have a significant impact on Europe's direction. The U.S. should once again use its leverage and influence to support European integration. It is time for the United States to embrace the European Union.

From ambivalence to hostility: America's 21st-century approach toward Europe

"Let me reaffirm clearly the support of this administration for European unity. We consider a strong and united Europe not a rival, but a partner." – President Ronald Reagan, 1982¹¹

Since the founding of the United States, Europe had dominated America's geopolitical thinking, from fear of European intervention in the United States and the Western hemisphere in the 19th century to world wars and conflicts in the 20th century. After the Cold War ended, Europe continued to consume Washington's attention. The United States engaged in two conflicts in Europe—Bosnia and Kosovo—and sought to manage the collapse of the Soviet Union and the Warsaw Pact, unify Germany, and expand NATO.

But, in the 2000s, Europe went from being the focus of American foreign policy to an afterthought. From Washington's vantage point following 9/11, Europe was seen as essentially solved—a zone of peace and democratic stability where history had seemingly ended.¹² Washington's attention became consumed by counterterrorism, wars in the Middle East, and eventually, China's rise.

The Washington foreign policy community viewed Europe with annoyed ambivalence. The United States was annoyed by the feebleness of Europe's contributions to the costly wars in Iraq and Afghanistan; the diplomatic deference Europeans expected despite their lack of contributions to NATO; and the occasional strong European opposition to American initiatives and actions, such as the invasion of Iraq. America was also increasingly ambivalent about the European Union and the project of European integration. After all, America was not in the European Union, struggled to understand the dynamics of integration, and was uncertain whether a united Europe untethered from American dependency was in U.S. interests. Washington's ambivalence made it a force for the status quo in Europe, encouraging Europe to get its act together but fretting and opposing EU efforts that might reduce Washington's influence.

Successive Democratic and Republican administrations saw little practical value in engaging with the European Union and viewed EU integration efforts as an internal effort that did not involve the United States. The European Union was seen by U.S.

policymakers as little more than another regional organization. Engaging the European Union was often viewed as an impediment and a bureaucratic slog. During both the George W. Bush and Obama administrations, the United States was largely ambivalent toward the project of European integration, which meant it was essentially silent and absent in critical debates over Europe's future, including the future of the euro, the European Union's institutional structure, and even hot-button issues such as migration. With the overriding focus on conflicts in the Middle East, especially prior to 2014, the U.S. State Department and the Pentagon directed their energies to corralling and coordinating individual European contributions. In the run-up to the Iraq war, then-Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld, frustrated by France and Germany's opposition, divided Europe into two: old and new. New Europe included the new Eastern European members who were supporting the United States and joined the "coalition of the willing." ¹³

But the annoyed ambivalence was bipartisan. Despite European enthusiasm for the new Obama administration, Europe soon felt neglected. There were a series of small but noticeable diplomatic slights early on in the administration. President Barack Obama skipped the 20th anniversary of the fall of the Berlin Wall and was too busy to attend an EU-U.S. summit in Madrid.¹⁴ At the same time, the administration was highlighting the pivot to Asia. As Tom Wright explained in a 2017 Brookings Institution report, "Over the past 10 years, starting in the Obama administration and accelerating in the Trump administration, the United States has retrenched diplomatically and politically from Europe. ... Obama felt that the United States should leave the European project to Europeans."15 The Obama administration supported the idea of European integration but never offered a clear vision for what it wanted Europe to become—it was up to Europeans to decide. After World War II and throughout the Cold War, America was deeply engaged in internal European issues. But Wright observed in his report a stark contrast from today:

When one looks at the array of problems in Europe today—Catalonian separatism, faltering Brexit negotiations, difficult relations with Turkey, Russian political interference, the fallout from the refugee crisis, illiberal political trends in countries like Poland and Hungary, and differences over the future of the eurozone and the EU—the striking thing is the absence of the United States. Political problems appear to fester without meriting so much as a phone call from the president or secretary of state, let alone a concerted national effort to shape the outcome. ¹⁶

During the Obama administration, working with Europe was largely seen as an important functional, or multilateral, task, something that was done to avoid isolation and share the burden of global security.

The European Union also became an ideological proxy in a wider debate that dominated American foreign policy fights throughout the George W. Bush and Obama administrations. The European Union became viewed with seething hostility by the American right; it seemed to embody all that the right feared of multilateral organizations. As the European Union expanded, it subjugated the nation-state and created a new supranational bureaucracy in Brussels. The European Union was seen not as a governmental entity with which the United States had to engage, but rather as an entity to oppose.

Conservative Washington think tanks have frequently critiqued the character of the European Union, mimicking generic U.K. conservative party criticisms of the European Union being bureaucratic, undemocratic, and socialist. The Heritage Foundation became a leading purveyor of hostility toward the European Union in Washington. Heritage Foundation senior fellow in Anglo-American relations, Ted Bromund, articulated the standard pro-Brexit attacks on the European Union in a piece titled "Ten Myths about the European Union," asserting, "The essence of the EU ... is that it is a supranational authority that has steadily imposed ever-tighter constraints on the free and democratic nations of Europe." In 2009, Heritage's Sally McNamara wrote a report titled "The EU's Common Foreign and Security Policy: How It Threatens Transatlantic Security." She argued that the United States should oppose the European Union's Lisbon Treaty, which strengthened the European Union's role in foreign and security policy, stating that the then-new Obama administration "must make clear that building enduring bilateral alliances is a top U.S. foreign policy priority." In part of the European Union's role priority.

This outright hostile approach toward the European Union has been adopted by the Trump administration. President Trump and his administration have been cheerleaders for Brexit. As a candidate in 2016, Trump called himself "MR. BREXIT"¹⁹ and urged the United Kingdom to "walk away"²⁰ from talks with the European Union. Trump's former national security adviser John Bolton said the United Kingdom would "jump to the 'front of the queue'" in trade negotiations.²¹ And Secretary of State Mike Pompeo went to Brussels and attacked the European Union, asking, "Is the EU ensuring that the interests of countries and their citizens are placed before those of bureaucrats here in Brussels?"²² The speech left Europeans stunned for its "ignorance and arrogance," as former Obama administration official Julie Smith surmised in *Foreign Policy*.²³ In Washington, meanwhile, in a petty act it later reversed, the Trump administration downgraded the diplomatic status of the EU diplomatic mission to Washington.²⁴

As a result, there no longer is a bipartisan American approach toward Europe. The bipartisan support for integrating Europe after World War II, as seen through the Marshall Plan, the formation of NATO, and the backing of the European Economic Community, no longer exists. While there is general bipartisan consensus toward supporting NATO in Washington, there is now strong conservative opposition to European integration and the European Union.

However, concern over the future of Europe now once again permeates Washington. Russia's illegal invasion and seizure of Ukrainian territory and its aggressive posture toward NATO and EU members have revived concerns over Europe's territorial defense and security. The emergence of anti-EU populist far-right parties fueled by Europe's languid recovery from the Great Recession and the 2015 wave of migration has led to concerns about the stability of the European Union. A united, democratic Europe can no longer be taken for granted. There is a growing sense of the need to reengage and revive the trans-Atlantic alliance. As Wright explains, "The United States must choose between ... adopting a stance of benign disinterest, or returning to a strategy of deep engagement in Europe in pursuit of shared security and prosperity."25

Reengaging a changing Europe

Engaging Europe is hard, as there is no singular point of contact. Former Secretary of State Henry Kissinger was purported to have quipped that when he wanted to call Europe, he didn't know who to call.²⁶ America's approach has echoed this, focusing on Europe's nation-state capitals and NATO, while largely neglecting the European Union.²⁷ But Europe's power dynamics are shifting away from its nation-states, and Brussels should become more of the focal point for Washington's engagement with Europe.

As the United States turns to Europe after President Trump, its framework for approaching the continent is in need of an overhaul.²⁸ Europe has transformed itself over the last 20 years—so much so that a diplomatic strategy of deep engagement focused on herding Europe's 28 nation-states is bound to disappoint Washington. Europe's states have seen their power erode or are unwilling to exercise their clout on the world stage. Thus, an engagement strategy focused on Europe's states doing more will lead nowhere, and focusing on European capitals—and not on the European capital—no longer makes sense. However, engaging the European Union will not be easy or straightforward. The European Union remains stuck in an institutional purgatory. It has tremendous potential power but is unable to exercise it on the world's stage. This section outlines the challenges of engaging a changed Europe.

The declining power of European states

The United States principally engages "Europe" in its various European capitals, most notably focusing on the big three powers: the United Kingdom, France, and Germany. Such an approach remains sensible. These European states continue to drive the continent's broader approach to the world. Furthermore, the lack of a strong EU foreign policy apparatus has made shuttle diplomacy among London, Paris, and Berlin an essential part of American engagement with Europe. Yet, the geopolitical clout of European states has declined considerably since the end of the Cold War. While Germany is the exception, its lack of a strategic culture and narrow conception of national interest has made Germany a reluctant and unreliable player

on the world stage. Berlin has the power to move Europe, yet thus far, Germany has been reluctant to do so. The United Kingdom's impending departure from the European Union will also further erode its influence and dramatically alter America's traditional pattern engagement with Europe. The special relationship between the United States and the United Kingdom, already having lost much of its former luster, will be a shadow of itself. France, meanwhile, strives for Europe to fulfill a role that America should support, yet France lacks the clout to dictate the direction of Europe. Furthermore, the influence of other European states has been reduced in part because of the emergence of the European Union, which consumes much of these states' diplomatic energy. Therefore, focusing primarily on Europe's nation-state capitals as the locus of U.S. engagement is bound to leave the United States disappointed and frustrated.

The United Kingdom: A wavering relationship

The long-heralded special relationship with the United Kingdom is waning. This is not just the result of Brexit. The toll of the Iraq war on the U.K. military and austerity from conservative Tory governments has led to the significant decline of not just the United Kingdom's armed forces but also its global ambitions. ²⁹ The United Kingdom remains an important and valued contributor, as its military remains potent and its overseas territories provide bases for U.S. forces. But there has been a decline in both the United Kingdom's military capacity and its willingness to partner with the United States. ³⁰

Furthermore, the United Kingdom's departure from the EU will significantly reduce its diplomatic relevance to the United States. The United Kingdom has served as America's de facto translator in the European Union, explaining and flagging initiatives that could impact U.S. interests. The United Kingdom has also served as chief advocate and protector of the trans-Atlantic relationship within the European Union, often serving to block EU actions that the United States opposed. Professor and author Desmond Dinan explained that "the United States consistently supported European integration and British participation in it. To the extent the special relationship existed, it did so despite, not because of, Britain's refusal to join the European communities. ... Regardless of Britain's opposition, the United States strongly supported deeper European integration." The collapse of the United Kingdom's influence within the European Union will require the United States to devote more attention to cultivating diplomatic partnerships with other European players.

Furthermore, the inevitable all-consuming focus on Brexit and its fallout will make the United Kingdom increasingly distracted from other world events. The United Kingdom has already shown itself to be enamored with the Chinese market, focused

on rolling out the red carpet for Xi Jinping and breaking with the United States and joining the Chinese-initiated Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank.³³ Additionally, the United Kingdom has been incredibly reticent to deal aggressively and comprehensively with Russian malign influence.³⁴ The United Kingdom may act to address specific egregious incidents but lacks the will to uproot the systemic nature of Russian influence within its borders.

Furthermore, a United Kingdom coping with the economic fallout of its departure from the European Union will be intensely focused on building international economic ties with any willing partner it can find. Economics, not geopolitics, will likely drive U.K. thinking. This will lead to a narrower and insular approach to international affairs, reducing the United Kingdom's dependability to the United States. The United Kingdom is, and will remain, an essential partner for the United States, a significant military power and financial center, but the heyday of the special relationship is almost certainly over.

France: The new special relationship?

France may have already surpassed the United Kingdom as America's closest European military partner. Fifteen years ago, the U.S. Congress changed the name of French fries in the congressional cafeteria to "freedom fries." Since then, France rejoined NATO in 2009 and has partnered with the United States in a number of military operations. France in particular has taken a lead role in the Sahel, deploying more than 3,000 forces, while the United States supports these efforts through aerial refueling and intelligence and surveillance.³⁵ France has also been willing to engage militarily to address crises in the Middle East, such as in Libya and Syria. 36 France has become the European power most likely and willing to partner with the United States in a military intervention. Under President Emmanuel Macron, France is also seeking to develop Europe's capacity to act to address out-of-area contingencies by working to create a European intervention force made up of willing European countries that, if called upon, could take military action.³⁷ France rightly sees itself as the military leader of Europe, a role that will likely grow in prominence with the departure of the British and German reticence.

However, France's anemic recovery from the economic crisis and its sclerotic economy have limited its ability to resource its grand global ambitions.³⁸ Yet France's recognition of its limitations is in part why it is pushing to expand the capabilities of the European Union in a number of areas, including foreign and security policy. France seeks to build the European Union into a major global player. While Washington has long feared that the European Union would be a vehicle for French

domination, especially following French President Charles de Gaulle's decision to remove France from NATO in 1966. But the European Union—with its 28 members and increasingly powerful executive, the European Commission—is not easily controlled. Moreover, the expansion of the European Union's authority would also involve France subjugating itself to the European Union in foreign and security policy. Therefore, past American concerns that the European Union would serve as a vehicle for French nationalist or Gaullist ambitions, which were often outwardly anti-American, are outdated and simplistic. France wants to empower the European Union, because it recognizes that the European Union can be a more powerful international player than France can be on its own. Therefore, a strong European Union serves France's national interests, just as it serves American national interests.

However, while President Macron has laid out a bold vision for the European Union and proposed reform after reform, he has not been able to convince German Chancellor Angela Merkel to join him in bolstering the European Union.³⁹ While some progress has been made, France is no longer able to set Europe's course as it had in the past. Nevertheless, France will likely be a key—if not the key—partner for an American administration seeking to bolster and strengthen the European Union.

Germany: The reluctant superpower

Germany has emerged as the key power in Europe and has set the course for the European Union over the last decade. Chancellor Merkel is rightly admired for her professionalism and dignity in her conduct of international diplomacy, her advocacy for democracy and human rights, and the humanity she showed during the 2015 refugee crisis. Germany, however, is a force for the status quo in Europe—a status quo that largely benefits Germany but ultimately leaves the European Union in a very precarious position.

Germany has the economic and political might to drive EU policy, further EU integration, revive Europe's moribund economic situation, and turn Europe into a potent global player. Yet Germany remains reticent to do so.40 Much of this is due to the legacy of World War II and Germany's postwar rehabilitation. Germany sought to become a "normal" country, dismissing the notion that it was "exceptional" or that there was a German sonderweg, or "special path." Thomas Bagger, the director of foreign policy in the Office of the Federal President of Germany, assessed recently in The Washington Quarterly, "The strong pacifist streak produced by two catastrophic wars that set Germany's security and defense debates apart from neighbors such as France or Poland did not lose its relevance." He assesses that Germany embraced the notion that history had ended after the collapse of the Berlin Wall, believing that

the era of geopolitics ended in 1989. Germany's entire strategic outlook and culture is therefore built on collaboration and cooperation, not on power politics and geopolitical competition. Bagger concludes that "Germany is more fundamentally challenged than others by the recent turn in international affairs" toward greater geopolitical competition.⁴²

Berlin is thus ill-prepared for this new era, leaving much of Europe and the liberal world disappointed and often aghast at the seemingly hypocritical conduct of its foreign policy. 43 After Trump's election, Angela Merkel was anointed by some as the new leader of the free world. 44 While this was overstated, there was the potential for it to be true. With the United States walking away from its traditional leadership role, Merkel, as leader of the most powerful and influential country within the European Union, possessing the ability to drive the European Union, could have pushed for considerable action both within the European Union and globally. But Merkel dismissed the premise. Julie Smith, former Obama administration official and fellow of the Robert Bosch Academy in Berlin, expressed exasperation at Merkel's lack of tangible action, noting that she highlights the problems internationally, "but she isn't helping Europe to do anything about it."45

Germany, therefore, has likely missed its moment. With an increasingly partisan domestic political situation, Germany seems unlikely to reverse course and step up on the world stage. The country will therefore remain a rather insular power, with a narrow conception of national interests that will prevent it from revamping and bolstering the European Union. This is an unsettling dynamic. German stewardship of the European economic crisis left Europe and the euro currency teetering on the verge of collapse. Since the Great Recession, Germany has been a force for austerity and deflationary economics that are strangling the economies of southern EU members, helping to create an environment in which populists can thrive. 46 Merkel's approach to European economic issues prioritizing a narrow German outlook was fortunately mitigated by the tenure of Mario Draghi as head of the European Central Bank (ECB), who worked aggressively, often over German objections, to save the euro and stimulate eurozone economies. As Financial Times columnist Martin Wolf concluded, "The recovery of the eurozone from its crisis, perhaps even its survival, owes more to the ECB than any other institution."47

Militarily, despite a considerable budget surplus, Germany spends just 1.2 percent of its GDP on defense.⁴⁸ Its neglected armed forces are now in a shockingly decrepit state: None of its submarines are operational; just four of its 128 Eurofighter Typhoon combat jets were combat ready in 2018; it lacks dozens of tanks and

vehicles for NATO operations; and its troops lack body armor, cold weather gear, and night vision. Helicopter pilots lack helicopters to fly and are unable to train.⁴⁹ Moreover, Germany's penchant to seek better ties with Russia could lead to friction, especially over Germany's willingness to move forward with Russia's Nord Stream 2 gas pipeline.50

While Germany could lead the European Union and push it in a direction that addresses many of its weaknesses, it has refused to do so. European integration has advanced when Germany and France move together—such as with the founding of the European Coal and Steel Community after World War II; French support for German unification after the Cold War, despite significant concerns; and Germany agreeing to the creation of an economic union and common currency. French President Macron has offered proposal after proposal to bolster the European Union, seeking a renewed Franco-German partnership. Yet every overture has been dismissed by Berlin.⁵¹ Germany is enamored with the idea of a Europe in union, but it balks at the price. Brookings Institution Senior Fellow Constanze Stelzenmüller explains that "no other country has been so deeply in denial about the tension between its high-minded normative convictions, and its own selective compliance with them. We sing the praises of normative universalism, but are absolutely ready to swerve away from our convictions in pursuit of our national interest. We see ourselves as the engine of European integration, but when it comes down to it, German governments regularly hit the brakes."52

Germany therefore remains a reluctant power that will undoubtedly frustrate a new energetic American administration seeking to revive the trans-Atlantic relationship. A new administration should not bank on Germany suddenly asserting itself internationally.

European states: When foreign policy is domestic policy

Europe's other states have varying clout and influence on the world stage. For example, Spain maintains strong relationships with Latin America and provides important staging bases for the alliance in North and West Africa. Sweden is the world's largest funder of international development per capita. Nordic and Baltic states maintain a laserlike focus on Russia and lead the way in responding to foreign interference. Italy and Greece are coping with a migration crisis in the Mediterranean and serving as the front line for dealing with instability from Syria and North Africa. But overall, the diplomacy of European states—small and large—has been increasingly consumed by Brussels. The foreign policy of EU states is often focused internally, while the energy and attention of foreign ministries is directed at Brussels rather than outside of the European Union. This is not unusual, as smaller European states

have long focused on events within Europe. Seeking to develop new coalitions of smaller states is unlikely to significantly alter the dynamics within Europe.

In sum, the United Kingdom is no longer punching above its weight but is losing weight, France is trying to punch above its weight, and Germany doesn't know how to punch. Other European states are focused on punching one other in Brussels. Overall, a continued American focus on engaging European states is unlikely to result in a significant shift.

America's NATO-centric approach toward Europe

When Washington thinks about the future of Europe, it often does so through the lens of NATO. NATO remains the guarantor of European security, providing the foundation for European integration and therefore enabling the formation of the European Union. It provides an umbrella of security through the Article 5 commitment that deters adversaries and challengers. NATO also critically coordinates defense and security decisions and provides a strategic direction for the continent. But NATO is ultimately a military alliance and therefore fails to capture most issues and challenges that animate the continent and trans-Atlantic relations.

After decades adrift, searching for a new raison d'etre, the NATO alliance is now back to its core mission: defending Europe from Russian aggression—the very reason the organization was founded in the first place. After Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2014, the Obama administration dramatically expanded U.S. military support to the European theater.⁵³ And in various NATO summits following 2014, NATO took needed steps to reposture toward the renewed threat from Russia. Despite President Trump's refusal to strongly commit to Article 5,54 the Jim Mattisled U.S. Department of Defense, aided by ample funding from Congress, expanded on the approach laid out during the Obama administration by expanding the resources directed to Europe. The effort, initially called the European Reassurance Initiative, has been strengthened through substantial congressional funding and has become the European Deterrence Initiative.55

Meanwhile, NATO has reorganized and taken important steps to meet the challenge posed by Russia. NATO has deployed multinational battlegroups to the Baltic states; brought back military commands focused on moving forces across the Atlantic to Europe and across Europe to the east to cope with a Russia contingency; and established air-policing missions in the Baltic Sea and the Black Sea. 56 Charles Kupchan, who served on the National Security Council during the Obama administration, argued that, despite political concerns from the Trump administration and lack of European defense spending, NATO is on very firm footing and is in "extraordinarily robust shape." 57

While European defense spending has not met American expectations, there have been substantial increases, particularly among the states most sensitive to the threat posed by Russia, such as Poland, the Baltic states, and even non-NATO countries such as Sweden. 58 This increase in spending is not the result of American badgering, but rather due to the shock caused by Russian annexation of Ukrainian territory. The ease with which Russia conducted those operations led European states from Romania to Sweden to bolster their defenses.⁵⁹ Furthermore, one positive aspect of President Trump's hostility toward NATO is that it has led to renewed bipartisan support for the alliance in Congress, resulting in congressional resolutions and large delegations to European summits and conferences.⁶⁰

Nevertheless, NATO is not without its own challenges. The alliance is not well equipped to respond to Russian political, economic, cyber, and election-related interference, as well as other hybrid or so-called gray zone challenges that entail more political and regulatory responses. While NATO helps coordinate and set needed force requirements, there is incredible waste and duplication among its 29 member nations. NATO members such as Turkey and Hungary have rolled back democratic institutions, challenging NATO's claim to be an alliance of democracies.

The problem, however, of low European defense spending has consumed not just NATO but also the trans-Atlantic relationship. European states are well below the agreed-upon contribution threshold of 2 percent of GDP, and the military capabilities and readiness of European forces remain in a shocking state. The marginal increases in defense spending have not been enough to mask the general disinterest among European states on spending more on defense. While President Trump's badgering of European countries has largely proven counterproductive, the more kindly prodding from President Obama was not any more effective. This has left America in a state of bipartisan exasperation.

It is worth assessing why European states still refuse to meet their commitments. The answer is varied, but it is not simply that European states enjoy being free riders off America's military might. European states understand the importance of solidarity and the responsibility of membership in an organization; they often understand this more so than the United States, which is why European states have often made excuses for this lack of spending, pointing to development contributions or playing accounting tricks to show that defense spending is higher than it actually is—something the United Kingdom has done. 61 The major problem is that many European states no longer see national security as primarily the responsibility of their state and are increasingly willing for the European Union to take on that responsibility.62 Defense is increasingly seen as a collective European responsibility.

When it comes to defense, European states increasingly think less like nation-states and more like states in the American conception. Asking an American state to voluntarily devote 2 percent of its budgets to national defense would result in similar shortfalls. Would Vermont use 2 percent of its tax revenue it uses for schools and roads to pay to defend the Texas border? While the analogy is an exaggeration, it does touch on the root of the problem. Slovenians and Belgians see themselves as European; they value Europe and want Europe to be defended. But their politicians are also hesitant to take money from their states' schools or pension funds to spend more to defend Estonia. By asking for significant increases in defense spending, the alliance is asking member states to think geopolitically, not locally. However, short of a massive external shock, which Russia's invasion of Ukraine caused for some, it remains highly unlikely that European states will do so. In a 2013 Foreign Policy piece, Mark Leonard and Hans Kundnani explained that "the EU has revolutionized the way its members think about security, replacing the old traditions of balance-ofpower politics and noninterference in internal affairs with a new model under which security for all is guaranteed by working together."63

A state-centric approach to European defense is bound to leave Washington disappointed. Over the last decade, the United States has both played good cop, with Obama, and bad cop in the form of Trump. Europe has seen a neighbor invaded and the election of an American president with little commitment to European security, yet even these developments failed to result in a broad increase in European defense spending. Washington has seemingly tried everything. But the one approach it has not tried is embracing the expansion of the European Union's role into European defense.

The driver of any renewed effort to bolster European defense is most likely to come from the European Union. Yet Washington has consistently stymied and opposed EU defense efforts. Worried that the European Union will potentially impinge on NATO competencies and reduce the importance of NATO and undermine U.S. influence in Europe, the United States has made its voice heard whenever the European Union has sought to involve itself in defense. When the European community was negotiating the Maastricht Treaty to form the European Union in 1991, the United States was largely aloof. But as Professor Desmond Dinan of George Mason University noted, "The United States made its disapproval of a European defense identity or capability known early in the conference, thereby nixing discussion of the issue."64

During the Clinton administration, the United States pushed vigorously for NATO expansion and was frustrated by the slower pace of EU expansion. The United States

could not drive EU expansion, but it could control NATO's, which became the focus of U.S. policy toward Europe. As NATO was expanding, the United States sought to put the European Union in its place. 65 In December 1998, then-Secretary of State Madeleine Albright, in a speech at the NATO foreign ministers' meeting, outlined the famous "three Ds": no duplication, no discrimination, and no delinking. She explained that "Any [EU] initiative must avoid preempting Alliance decision-making by de-linking ESDI [a European Security Defense Identity] from NATO, avoid duplicating existing efforts, and avoid discriminating against non-EU members."66 For the last two decades, this has been the mantra from the United States, often cut and pasted again and again by State Department officers and placed into official statements and into the talking points of U.S. officials expressing concern about EU initiatives duplicating NATO.⁶⁷ This approach was on full display in May 2019 when Andrea Thompson, undersecretary of state for arms control and international security affairs, and Ellen Lord, undersecretary of defense for acquisition and sustainment, sent a joint letter to EU High Representative Federica Mogherini objecting to what amounts to extremely limited EU defense initiatives. ⁶⁸ Additionally, America's closest allies within NATO, such as the United Kingdom, Poland, and other Eastern European states, adopted the American perspective and used their position as EU members to block or slow EU integration efforts.⁶⁹

The United States has therefore been a force for the status quo on European defense as well as on the European Union becoming a larger, more geopolitically minded player. Instead of trying to encourage EU expansion into foreign and defense areas, the United States has often worked diplomatically to put the brake on European integration efforts.

As a result of these efforts, American opposition to EU defense initiatives is contradictory. Even though America complains about the shambolic state of European defense, the United States intervenes whenever there are ambitious EU initiatives to address the defense sector. Former head of the European Union's Common Security and Defense Policy, Javier Solana, writes, "Paradoxically, while his [Trump's] administration demands that we Europeans take charge of our security, it consistently strives to undermine every joint defense project that we pursue. Such prejudice and shortsightedness with respect to European security cooperation is not new."70

Furthermore, while NATO is the world's greatest military alliance and provides an essential trans-Atlantic forum, it still has an operational military purpose: to ensure its members can fight together. It is a multinational combatant command focused on the military missions the alliance deems most necessary, such as the defense

of Europe. There is a tendency on the American side to have NATO continuously expand into other nondefense or quasi-defense areas that distract from its core mission and that are better handled by the European Union. Yet the United States often crams more into NATO, because the alliance is America's forum to engage Europe. But NATO is not Europe; it is a trans-Atlantic military alliance. NATO is essential and must be preserved and strengthened, as it focuses on its core task of deterring conflict. But by focusing so much attention on NATO, the United States has overmilitarized the trans-Atlantic relationship to the detriment of critical diplomatic, political, economic, and other challenges.

Missing Europe's integration transformation

The European Union has massively transformed Europe. Over the last 70 years, the process of European integration has welded together a continent rife with ethnic division, state conflict, and without considerable democratic tradition into a liberal democratic political and economic union. It has turned a continent constantly at war into a zone of peace and stability. It is a remarkable human achievement, one that America helped forge.

European integration did not happen by accident. The United States pushed, cajoled, and encouraged European integration, often over the strong initial objections of European states. In 1948, as relations with the Soviet Union began to collapse and as communism spread, the United States created the Marshall Plan, which added fuel to European integration by requiring European states to work together. Paul Hoffman, who led the Truman administration's Economic Cooperation Agency, which implemented the Marshall Plan, gave a speech in Paris in October 1949, saying that the "steady improvement in the conditions of life [requires] nothing less than an integration of the West European economy."⁷¹ In his book *The Marshall* Plan: Dawn of the Cold War, Benn Steil notes that the push for integration, lowering internal economic barriers, and not seeking massive reparations from a defeated Germany brought significant protestations from French and British officials. Dutch politician Ernst van der Beugel defended American cajoling, stating that "it was again American and not European initiative which pushed Western Europe further on the road to greater cooperation and integration." In 1953, Jean Monnet, one of the founding fathers of the European integration project, noted that America's support for Europe's integration was "the first time in history that a great power, instead of basing its policy on ruling by dividing, has consistently and resolutely backed the creation of a large Community uniting peoples previously apart."72 Konrad Adenauer, the first chancellor of the Federal Republic of Germany—that is, West Germany—privately told President Harry S. Truman's secretary of state, Dean Acheson, that "Americans were the best Europeans." 73

American support for European integration prompted France in 1950, through the work of Jean Monnet and French Foreign Minister Robert Schuman, to develop the Schuman Plan, which proposed joint control of coal and steel production and removed the materials critical to war-making from national control. The European Coal and Steel Community was established in 1951, forming the basis for the European Economic Community in 1958, which eventually became the European Union. European integration has tackled different policy challenges: the reconstruction of Europe; the reconstruction and rehabilitation of Germany; expanding continental trade and lowering internal market tariffs; addressing currency speculation; and enabling freedom of movement of people and goods and services. This process of integration—of economies, societies, and politics—has happened at different speeds and continues to this day.

EU expansion has served to unite most of the continent under one political and economic system. Through the process of integration, a unified Europe has begun to emerge. Europe has a capital (Brussels), increasingly a common language (English), a developing legal system (the European Court of Justice), a common currency (the euro), popularly elected representatives (the European Parliament), a government (the European Commission), a foreign minister or secretary of state, (the European high representative), and a foreign diplomatic service with missions abroad (the European External Action Service). Europe has most of the trappings of a nascent state and as such is beginning to act like one.

Economically, the European Union has created a single economic space, which has broken down barriers not just to trade but also to the movement of people. The Berlin Wall came down 30 years ago, and since then, a new generation has grown up in a Europe united and largely without borders. They have been able to live, work, and study anywhere in Europea. European cities are now often multinational. Transportation sectors have become integrated, creating a plethora of inexpensive flights throughout the continent. By turning the continent into a single economic space, the European Union has begun to forge a common identity. European youth tend to be the most pro-EU population segment in polls and tend to identify as European.⁷⁴ The formation of "Europe" and a "European identity" can certainly be overstated. But too often, the degree of change and transformation has been understated.

Too big to fail

The integration process has also, in effect, made the European Union "too big to fail." The level of economic, social, cultural, and political integration is so substantial that the disintegration of the European Union would have devastating consequences for

Europe and the globe. Nevertheless, despite the catastrophe that could unfold, the European Union can still certainly fail. The economic shock of the Great Recession, as well as the dramatic change brought about by integration, has led to a populist blowback against Brussels and the European Union, which now serves as a convenient scapegoat for nationalist politicians. 75 While the European Union's impact is significant and influential enough to foster a populist backlash, it still lacks the strength and the tools that a normal state possesses to address the social and economic issues that give rise to populist leaders and movements.

The European Union is stuck in an institutional purgatory. It is not yet a state, but it is more than an international organization. Internal friction over roles and responsibilities between the European Union's federal institutions—the European Commission and the European Parliament—and its intergovernmental institutions made up of member states—the European Council and Council of European Union—is not that dissimilar to the constitutional debates within the United States over the role of the federal government vis-a-vis America's states. The process of integrating European states into a collective union has therefore been uneven and often the result of hard-forged compromises that form awkwardly structured institutions and procedures. Europe's nation-states have ceded power and authority to a supranational body in a number of areas, such as trade, market regulations, monetary policy, and freedom of movement. Yet Europe's nation-states retain control over critical areas such as fiscal policy as well as foreign and defense policy. Integrating in some areas but not in others has exposed vulnerabilities within the European Union and inhibited the ability of it to play a more prominent global role. This has put the European Union at a crossroads.

Politically, European integration has also created an opening for rightwing nationalists or populists to decry the loss of national control and to use the European Union as a scapegoat ...

Economically, the European Union has a monetary policy with the euro currency and the ECB but not a fiscal policy, as the European Commission lacks a significant budget or control over taxation; that remains the purview of member states. The common currency has helped accelerate integration but also represents Europe's greatest structural weakness. The euro was not accompanied by an integration of fiscal policy or fiscal transfers to address the divergence among EU member states' economies. While Americans tend to see Europe through a domestic lens as being a bastion of progressive economic policy, the European Union has in fact been a force for economic liberalization, breaking down market barriers, removing economic

impediments to trade, and forging a common market. Through its common currency, the European Union has been a force for austerity and deflationary economics, locking its economies in a budgetary pact that prevents states from fiscally stimulating their economies during economic downturns.

The governance of the euro has largely reflected the interests of the largest European economic power, Germany, which adheres to a highly conservative economic approach. The euro has in effect served to depreciate Germany's currency and boost its exports. If Germany was still using the deutsche mark, its currency would be valued much higher than with the euro, making German exports much more expensive. ⁷⁶ Germany's export-led growth is possible because of the euro. In other words, northern Europe has benefited from gaining a large market—Europe—for its goods, all the while enjoying a currency that is lower in value than it would be if these countries maintained national currencies, making their exports much cheaper and more competitive.

Meanwhile, Southern European countries are struggling with having an inflated currency relative to their economic situation, hurting their ability to export.⁷⁷ Additionally, the 19 EU member states that use the euro have lost the ability to stimulate their economies through expansionary fiscal policy. The European Union's Stability and Growth Pact obligates states to limit deficit spending and not run a deficit more than 3 percent of GDP.78 While the same is true for states in the United States, the U.S. government usually steps in to provide fiscal stimulus in times of recession. Yet the European Union is not empowered nor able to do that. As a result, member states undergoing an economic recession are unable to depreciate their currencies and unable to boost growth through fiscal policy. The euro and the European Union have therefore created a deflationary trap for many of its members. 79 As Hans Kundnani explains in his book The Paradox of German Power, "Germany's rhetoric focuses on stability ... [but] when Germany talks about stability it means price stability and nothing else. In fact, in attempting to export its 'stability culture,' Germany has in a broader sense created instability."80 There have therefore been stark divergences in economic performance between Europe's north and south. This has plunged many Southern European economies into a deep recession, while depriving them the means, namely economic stimulus or currency depreciation, to escape.

This has prompted many economists to describe the euro as a huge mistake that has hurt Europe's economic growth, helped give rise to populist leaders, and continues to pose a real threat to its economic future. 81 While this view misses the significant political and cultural benefits in having a common currency, there is a real need for

the European Union and members in the eurozone to address the structural weaknesses and encourage growth.

The European Union is therefore quite vulnerable should another economic crisis hit. The economic situation in Italy, the third-largest economy in the eurozone, remains sclerotic, with Italian debt levels now exceeding 130 percent of GDP—the highest since the 1940s. 82 Meanwhile, Italy's political instability raises fears of another Greekstyle debt crisis, but this time with an economy 10 times the size. 83 Another economic downturn could therefore pose a significant threat to the stability of the euro and the European Union—and, by extension, the global economy.84 Currently, the spread in bond rates on government debt vary considerably across the eurozone, with negative interest rates on German debt—meaning the creditor actually has to pay Germany to buy its debt—while in Italy, bond rates are rising. 85 This divergence could lead to contagion and potentially a bank run in a crisis, with money fleeing risky Italian banks for safer European banks, as took place in Greece. 86 Yet the European Union possesses essentially the same limited tools to combat a crisis as it did after the last crisis. As Kundnani explains, Germany's "ongoing reticence about the extent to which it will accept mutualization of European debt ... has created a climate of uncertainty. Thus one might almost speak of a German 'instability culture."87

Politically, European integration has also created an opening for right-wing nationalists or populists to decry the loss of national control and to use the European Union as a scapegoat for failing to restrict migration, undermining national culture, and creating a massive bureaucracy in Brussels.88 In Europe, politicians lambasting Brussels is now as ubiquitous as American politicians castigating Washington.

Nevertheless, the May 2019 European Parliament elections have shown that Europe's political center of gravity is shifting from national capitals to Brussels and the European Union. The EU parliamentary elections, the lone EU institution with direct voter participation, saw turnout rise for the first time ever, surpassing 50 percent.89 The boost was driven by a highly charged debate about the European Union's future, pitting far-right nationalists looking to devolve power against unionists looking to strengthen it. In the end, a robust showing from pro-EU parties, particularly the Greens, staved off a feared far-right surge. 90 As The Washington Post columnist Anne Applebaum observed following the elections, "the continent is becoming a single political space."91

Ironically, Brexit seems to have strengthened support for the European Union. Through the chaotic Brexit process, it has become readily apparent how intercon-

nected the United Kingdom is to Europe and how disentangling from it has the potential for massive economic, political, and social disruption. In other words, the costs of disintegration of the European Union are now too high to contemplate for other European states. The aftermath of Brexit has also showed the political strength of the European Union. The Brexit vote brought fears of a great unraveling and a sense that the European Union was facing imminent demise, as more countries could seek to emulate the United Kingdom and leave the European Union. Yet the doom and gloom was wrong. Emmanuel Macron's campaign for the French presidency in 2017 ran on a pro-EU message and populist leaders, such as Matteo Salvini in Italy, have downplayed the notion that they would move to leave the European Union once elected.92 Additionally, the unity that the European Union showed in the Brexit negotiations with the United Kingdom, with the European Union acting as a cohesive bloc, meant that the United Kingdom capitulated throughout the negotiating process.⁹³ EU leaders were committed to driving a hard bargain in part to make clear that leaving the European Union has costs. Whereas in 2016, there were at least 15 political parties across Europe campaigning for a referendum to leave the European Union, today, as Susi Dennison of the European Council on Foreign Relations points out, "that message is practically nonexistent." Instead, she says, "in an ironic twist, nationalist parties are joining hands across the EU ... demanding a 'Common-Sense Europe': not the end of the European Union but a changed European Union."94

The European Union has thus shown its resilience. Despite a massive economic recession, threats to the common currency, a migrant crisis, democratic backsliding, and the impending departure of an important member, the European Union has forged on. It has shown its strength and its importance, and those predicting the European Union's imminent collapse have been proven wrong. 95 Yet the past decade has taken a toll on the European Union. Political forces seeking to weaken it have grown, and the European Union's structural weaknesses have not been adequately addressed in the decades since the economic crisis. Additionally, far-right populists, now more of a political force, maybe able to block or stymie actions to address the crisis, hoping to exploit the crisis to attack the European Union and improve their political position. 96 There are therefore still clear reasons for the United States to fret about the European Union's stability.

Missing foreign and defense policy

The simple survival of the European Union is not America's only goal. The question for the United States is whether the European Union can continue to forge on with integration and become a more prominent global actor.

Europe is tremendously powerful when it operates as one bloc, as demonstrated during the Brexit negotiations. Yet foreign and defense policy remains largely the domain of the member states, hindering the development of a common foreign and security policy. This area remains among the least-integrated aspects of the European Union and represents a final frontier for European integration.

The European Union has taken important steps to become a more cohesive actor on the global stage. In 2007, it ratified the Lisbon Treaty, which created the position of European high representative—equivalent to the role of secretary of state or foreign minister—as well as a diplomatic foreign service, the European External Action Service, designed to represent EU interests abroad. These actions have made the European Union a more cohesive actor, enabling it to play a bigger role on the world's stage. EU High Representative Mogherini played an important role in the Iran negotiations and negotiations over the Paris climate talks, and EU sanctions against Russia had a significant impact.97

While Europe has failed to fully fill the global leadership void left by the Trump administration, it has worked to bolster the international order in America's absence. The European Union has sought to keep the Iran deal alive over Washington's objections. It has pushed forward on climate change, advancing implementation of the Paris climate agreement. It has picked up the remnants of the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP), which was rejected by the Republican-controlled Congress at the end of the Obama administration, by striking trade deals with Canada, Mexico, and Japan. It has led the way in addressing the harm caused by social media companies, making Brussels the epicenter for tech regulation.98

However, the European Union's role in foreign policy remains quite limited and complicated by member states. Unlike in trade policy where the European Union makes decisions through qualified majority vote, foreign and security policy require consensus.

The expansion of the European Union to incorporate former Warsaw Pact members has brought EU membership up to 28 members. Expansion has given the European Union a continental scale—more than 500 million inhabitants, the third-largest population in the world after China and India. The European Union has the secondlargest economy in the world in nominal terms. 99 Yet this expansion to 28 member nations and 24 official languages, although English has effectively become Europe's common language, has created difficulties for the European Union in moving forward with a unified agenda and approach. It is much more difficult to herd 28 members compared with the 12 members of the European Economic Community of the 1980s. This creates a structural impediment to the European Union acting

forcefully in foreign affairs, as a single member can block action. In response, the European Commission has recently proposed an expansion of qualified majority voting to foreign policy, which would enable a vote to pass with 55 percent of the member states and 65 percent of the population. Nevertheless, the current need for unanimity among member states creates a real impediment to the European Union acting as one in global affairs. 100

Meanwhile, the European Union has also made very little progress integrating defense capabilities.¹⁰¹ Even with Europe's current low military spending, it has the potential to be a military power. Collectively, European forces can, on paper, bring to bear conventional combat power comparable to Russia's. However, the disposition and disorganization of its forces—spread across 28 countries with duplicating or mismatched capabilities—mean Europe's collective military strength is less than the sum of its parts. Europe's defense industrial base remains largely segmented along national lines and has not witnessed the level of integration seen in other economic sectors. The integration of European defense capabilities through the European Union has been a major redline for the United States, as noted earlier, as it fears the European Union duplicating and supplanting NATO. The European Union's efforts throughout the 2000s to create a European Rapid Operational Force never got off the ground, and efforts to rationalize and coordinate defense research and development, as well as procurement, have remained extremely limited. Nevertheless, the European Union has emerged as a defense actor, all be it in a limited manner. It has deployed peacekeeping forces to the Balkans and to the Central African Republic and Mali and contributed naval assets through Operation Atalanta to the counterpiracy campaign off the coast of Somalia. 102

Those who express fears that integrating defense would make it impossible for the European Union to deploy forces abroad rightly note that unanimity of decisionmaking is a real obstacle. But they also overlook that deployments on the European Union level spread the risk and reduce the potential ownership and the political cost for national politicians making deployment decisions. Voting to approve an EU deployment likely has a lower threshold for national governments than approving the deployment of member states' own forces. Broadening the costs and risks could in fact reduce Europe's reticence to act.

The EU paradox

The European Union remains a paradox. It is stronger and more legitimate than its critics give it credit for, yet it remains a young and convoluted political system, with its integration uneven. Therefore, it remains at risk of unraveling, like any nascent

governing system. Its future direction is thus highly uncertain. Does the European Union move toward operating more as a state? Does it remain stuck in a state of institutional purgatory? Or does the European Union regress, ceding authority back to the nation-states or unravel completely?

The rise of populist politicians and parties portends an increasingly divisive and partisan political environment within Europe, more akin to the hyperpartisanship in the United States. 103 The European Union was largely a nonpartisan topic in most European states with the center-left and center-right largely committed to European integration. Going forward, future integration efforts will be contested and challenged by empowered populists. Additionally, there is now a conservative view, embodied by Angela Merkel's Germany, that is content with Europe's status quo. As The Guardian columnist Timothy Garton Ash identified, "There is now a realistic, even conservative (with a small c) argument for maintaining what has already been built – which, of course, necessarily also means reforming it. If we merely preserved for the next 30 years today's EU, at its current levels of freedom, prosperity, security and cooperation, that would already be an astonishing achievement." 104

Nevertheless, the logic of integration, and European federalism, remains. Brussels will continue to push to address the European Union's weaknesses, gain greater responsibility, and integrate further. The European Union, as the history of European integration has shown, will likely slowly but surely make advances and integrate further. 105 However, time is of the essence; Europe is once again a major geopolitical theater for great power competition, and America's rivals are seeking to divide it.

Europe's renewed geopolitical centrality in an era of great power competition

In turning away from Europe in the 2000s, America assumed Europe was fading into geopolitical irrelevance. The president of the Council on Foreign Relations, Richard Haass, wrote in The Washington Post in 2011, "Europe, the principal arena of much 20th-century geopolitical competition, will be spared such a role in the new century. ... In the coming decades, Europe's influence on affairs beyond its borders will be sharply limited, and it is in other regions, not Europe, that the 21st century will be most clearly forged and defined."106 Professor Walter Russell Mead concluded recently that "the most consequential historical shift of the last 100 years continues: the decline of Europe as a force in world affairs." ¹⁰⁷ And foreign affairs commentator Fareed Zakaria observed, "We are watching the shriveling of a group of nations that have defined and dominated the international stage since the 17th century. Brexit will only accelerate this sad slide." ¹⁰⁸ Europe's departure from the geopolitical stage is indeed a historical aberration. But the view, articulated by Haass, that the 21st century would be "defined" elsewhere may be mistaken. Europe, once again, is geopolitically pivotal. Whether or not the continent steps back out onto the world's stage could define the current geopolitical era.

Europe is a potential power. As the director of the European Council on Foreign Relations, Mark Leonard, and former Swedish prime minister, Carl Bildt, assess, "Collectively, the EU's member states have: the biggest single market in the world; higher defence spending than any power but the US; the world's largest diplomatic corps; and the highest levels of development spending." Europe is also technologically advanced; has a wealthy and well-educated population; and lacks the socioeconomic inequality infecting the United States and many autocratic countries. It has well-developed and extensive relationships with countries all over the globe—in Africa, Latin America, and Asia. It has the ability to drive global policy and set international norms, such as it has on climate and technology. But, as Leonard and Bildt conclude, "unless Europeans can leverage their collective potential - through the EU or other mechanisms – these impressive facts will mean little." ¹⁰⁹

It is precisely because Europe has such tremendous latent economic, political, and even military power potential that its future course and direction will be crucial to determining whether the 21st century is a democratic century. The European Union represents a model for the success of democracy, social market economies, and open societies. This is akin to how the power of America's image—as a beacon of freedom and democracy—has served at points throughout history as motivation to those seeking freedom. The European Union also has been an inspirational model. The allure of closer relations with the European Union was enough to inspire people in Kyiv to take to Maidan Square. European Union membership remains a tremendous carrot for states on its periphery and perspective members to stay on the democratic path. Additionally, the example of the European Union shows how war-torn societies of different nationalities can overcome their differences to live, work, and govern in peace and prosperity. The European Union also demonstrates what can be accomplished when states work together, enabling it to be a powerful force for regional and international cooperation. Furthermore, the European Union does not just support multilateral approaches to address global problems, but it also serves as a real-world example of a multilateral approach to address a global problem—what to do with a war-ravaged continent whose nation-states can't stop fighting one another. Therefore, the European Union is extremely deft in engaging in international processes, possessing the tact and patience that America sometimes lacks. Zakaria further explains that in an era of geopolitical competition, Europe "could play a crucial role in helping to preserve the rules, norms and values that have been built up since 1945. But Europe would need to harness its power and act with purpose." 110

A Europe that acts as one could be a strong voice in international affairs, not just as a key ally of the United States but as a crucial bulwark against China and Russia. As a result, China and Russia are working to keep Europe down—divided and weakened—and to build ties with select European states to block and stymie Europe from acting as one.111 Europe is once again geopolitically contested and is now a key theater in this new geopolitical era.

The rise of China and the resurgence of Russia, as well as the emboldening of strongman autocrats around the world, have created not just a renewed geopolitical challenge to the United States but also an ideological challenge to liberal democracy. 112 Should the United States decide to mobilize to respond to this geopolitical and ideological challenge after the Trump administration, it will need to turn to its democratic allies in both Europe and Asia and seek to rebuild and solidify its relationships and alliances. In a 2018 Center for American Progress report, the authors identified the need for the United States to pursue a "democracy rebalance" to focus

on building and cementing ties with America's democratic allies. The logic is that the stronger America's democratic alliances are, the stronger the United States will be. 113 To ensure that the 21st century continues to be a democratic age, America will not simply need to pursue a foreign policy that aligns with its democratic values; it will also need partners. And Europe will be the most critical partner. A strong, united, democratic Europe assertively engaging the world would be a huge boon to the United States and huge blow to its autocratic adversaries. Put simply, America needs Europe to rise and its adversaries to become weaker.

China and Russia understand that and are engaging to deliberately weaken and divide Europe. Both Russia and China prefer to deal with European countries on a national level, where they have more leeway to cut political and economic deals. Russia and China also recognize that an increasingly integrated and united European Union would represent a strong pillar in the liberal global order. As Leonard and Bildt, explain, "Great power competition is ... increasingly splitting the EU itself. Russia, China, and the US routinely exploit splits between EU member states and have become adept at watering down or blocking EU decisions."114

Russia

For the Kremlin, the European Union poses a distinct challenge. The success and appeal of the European Union is a potential threat to the Kremlin and the survival of the Vladimir Putin regime. The decision over whether to enter an economic association agreement with the European Union instigated the Maidan revolution in Ukraine, as then-Ukrainian President Viktor Yanukovych's decision to align with Russia's Eurasian Economic Union led to thousands taking to the streets and, ultimately, the collapse of the Yanukovych government. For the Kremlin, if the appeal of the European Union can spawn revolution in Kyiv, then why not in Moscow?

Prior to 2014, Europe did not have a unified approach toward Russia. 115 Generally, Eastern European nations had a highly antagonistic relationship with the Kremlin and wanted policies to contain and confront Russia, while most Western European nations were either ambivalent or sought to engage with the Kremlin. Russia took advantage of this internal division by developing its economic ties with countries such as Italy and Germany. Russia exploited Europe's openness to cooperation and the its tendency to see foreign relations through an economic lens. 116 Far from reforming and liberalizing Russia, as the Center for Strategic and International Studies' Kremlin Playbook documents, economic engagement enabled the Kremlin to utilize its businessmen

and commercial enterprises as tools of the state to gain access and influence. 117 For instance, Russia pursued gas pipeline deals such as the Nord Stream 2 with Germany, which would allow Russia to transport natural gas direct to Western Europe. This would enable Russia to bypass its immediate EU neighbors, giving it leverage to cut off gas supplies to these dependent countries. 118 Russia also cut energy deals with Italy and sought to build close commercial ties. 119 Russian oligarchs bought up real estate in London and set up lobby groups to push for warm relations with Moscow. 120 However, after Russia's invasion of Ukraine and the downing of Malaysia Airlines Flight 17, Europe awoke to the threat and united in enacting sanctions. Despite fears in Washington that the European Union would not renew sanctions, which have to be approved every six months, the sanctions remain in place.

Russia, in response, has ramped up its efforts to sow discord in European politics. The Kremlin provided financing to support far-right parties, such as Marie Le Pen's National Front, now the National Rally. 121 It also hacked the Macron campaign and released emails and documents just before the election. ¹²² In addition, the Kremlin hacked the German parliament, the Bundestag, and aggressively spreads disinformation, conspiracy theories, and propaganda that undermine the European Union and the trans-Atlantic alliance. 123

China

While Russian influence and interference efforts have at times been quite blunt, China's attempts have been more subtle yet are just as transparent. 124 Beijing, like Moscow, has sought to divide the European Union.

Through its Belt and Road Initiative, China is seeking to heavily invest and buy up critical European infrastructure, giving it potentially significant leverage over certain EU member states. The Chinese have created a dialogue with smaller central and Eastern European nations, including 11 EU members, such as Hungary, Romania, and Bulgaria, as well as non-EU Balkan states, such as Serbia. China deliberately left out major European nations, such as Germany and France. 125 The purpose is straightforward: build political and economic ties with some of the smaller EU members with the goal of using these countries as Trojan horses within the European Union to block efforts that China opposes. In particular, China has sought to take advantage of EU members that are struggling economically and are desperate for investment. 126 These efforts already started paying off in 2016, when Hungary¹²⁷ and Greece¹²⁸—both eager recipients of Chinese investment—watered down EU efforts to condemn Chinese

actions in the South China Sea. 129 Moreover, as the Center for a New American Security's Andrea Kendall-Taylor and Rachel Rizzo noted, Beijing has been looking to Europe for support during the Hong Kong protests: "There's a reason China thinks Europe might be persuaded. ... European leaders remain convinced they can uphold the values and norms they share with Washington while benefitting economically from greater engagement with China. This stance is short-sighted and dangerous—putting liberal democracy in peril."130

A report from the Global Public Policy Institute and Mercator Institute for China Studies found that "Beijing realized early on that dividing the US and the EU would be crucial to isolating the US, countering Western influence more broadly, and expanding its own global reach. China senses that a window of opportunity to pursue its goals has opened, with the Trump administration seen as withdrawing from the role as guardian of the liberal international order that the US has long played."131 In addition to investing in infrastructure in Europe's fragile and investment-desperate economies on its periphery, such as Greece, China is also focused on Brussels. "In Europe," the report concludes, Chinese influence "efforts particularly target Brussels as Beijing aims to implant its official views where EU decision-making takes place." 132

China and Russia are both focused on Brussels, but the United States is not. Chinese and Russian efforts to divide the European Union should send a signal to Washington that it should reverse course and pursue a strong, cohesive, and empowered European Union. Furthermore, by focusing predominantly on the military aspect of the alliance, NATO, the United States has lost sight that the key arena for geopolitical competition may not be a battlefield but rather the political or economic areas.

Why the European Union's unraveling is a geopolitical disaster for the United States

The Guardian's Timothy Garton Ash observed, "Each time, the new post-war European order lasts a while – sometimes shorter, sometimes longer – but gradually frays at the edges, with tectonic tensions building up under the surface, until it finally breaks apart in a new time of troubles. No European settlement, order, empire, commonwealth, res publica, Reich, concert, entente, axis, alliance, coalition or union lasts forever."133 Historically, a divided Europe has often quickly led to a Europe in conflict. More immediately, however, the collapse or unraveling of the European Union would have devastating economic consequences for the United States and the world. The European Union is the second-largest economy and America's largest trading partner. The collapse of the euro currency would create a systemic economic shock, roiling the global economy and financial markets. The unraveling of the European Union would also mean the collapse of the common market, which would cause an economic calamity as European governments seek to reerect borders, tariffs, and other barriers to trade and commerce within the European Union. A Europe without a union would also make it open season for external actors to cut economic and political agreements with individual European states. This could potentially deprive the United States of reliable allies, undercut NATO, and create a dizzying array of alliances similar to Europe prior to World War I. The European Union's collapse would return Europe back to its normal historic state: a continent divided along national, ethnic, and religious lines, where escalating tensions and divisions create an unsettled balance of power, creating stark security dilemmas for each nation-state. The European Union's unraveling would therefore make Europe a poorer, less secure, more tense region that would once again consume American foreign policy.

Reviving the trans-Atlantic alliance requires a new American approach

America faces a conundrum: It needs to revive the trans-Atlantic alliance and ensure European unity in order to address the rising geopolitical challenge from China and Russia. But the question of how to revive the alliance is less certain. America needs Europe to step up. But this is no longer about Europe "pulling its weight" or "reducing the burden" on America globally. The need is more urgent. America now needs Europe—not just to share America's global burden, but also to help it counter autocratic efforts to set the rules of the international road. America, as former Deputy Secretary of State William Burns explains in his memoir, is no longer as powerful as it once was. 134 The power and influence of other states have grown, and therefore, America's international clout and influence have been in a state of relative decline. America therefore needs allies now more than at any time since World War II.

But getting Europe to finally realize its potential power is a conundrum. An American strategy aimed at convincing European states to act, as noted previously, is destined to disappoint. Furthermore, a new American administration after President Trump will likely find a Europe eager to partner and repair relations but conversely feeling little incentive to do anything. After all, if America is back, why does Europe need to assert itself? If European states, following Trump's election were not going to step into the leadership void or spend more on defense or assert their strategic autonomy from the United States, they certainly are not going to do so after Trump leaves the stage. The incentives for European states to act will be gone.

Considering the fact that U.S. foreign policy efforts to undermine the international order are also harmful to American security, Europe's ability to blunt harmful approaches pursued by the American right is, in fact, beneficial for the United States and the world.

Yet the European Union will continue to seek a greater international role. As noted, the European Union remains stuck in institutional purgatory—often unable to act despite a willingness to do so. Unlike Berlin, Brussels wants to assert itself internationally. There is now a vibrant discussion within the European Union on the need for "strategic autonomy" but, thus far, such a debate has remained largely rhetorical with little tangible progress. This is due in no small measure to the United States' continued opposition to the European Union adopting a more prominent role in foreign and security policy. As Benjamin Haddad and Alina Polyakova explain in a Foreign Affairs article, the United States should "support and encourage European autonomy in the right direction."135

Many on the American right view the European Union as serving as a potential impediment to American global objectives, and some even see it as a potential adversary—including those in the current administration. There is no doubt that a united and more assertive European voice in global affairs could clash with American objectives and efforts. The United States and the European Union will not always see eye to eye. But these cases often occur when the American right pursues an extremely ill-advised foreign policy course, such as pulling out of the Iran nuclear agreement, invading Iraq, or withdrawing or blocking international treaties and agreements, including on climate change or arms control. In short, when America pursues counterproductive policies that serve to undermine the liberal international order, erode international norms, destabilize regions, and endanger the planet, Europe will likely strongly oppose those efforts. Considering the fact that U.S. foreign policy efforts to undermine the international order are also harmful

to American security, Europe's ability to blunt harmful approaches pursued by the American right is, in fact, beneficial for the United States and the world.

America's best bet for reviving Europe as a pivotal geopolitical ally is embracing the European Union. It is time for America to pivot away from a state-centric approach and toward engaging the European Union. America should seek to use its influence and clout to free the European Union from its institutional purgatory, especially on foreign and security policy. America should once again become the major champion for European integration and should push for the European Union to assert itself globally. The course and direction sought by the European Union is the very course the United States wants for Europe as well: a Europe speaking and acting as one. As Hans Kundnani assessed, "For the United States, European integration [has] always been a means to an end—or rather to several ends." ¹³⁶ Embracing the European Union is a practical and pragmatic step to ensure European unity and strengthen America's geopolitical position.

A rising power strategy for Europe: The need for an EU-centric approach

"We do not regard a strong and united Europe as a rival but as a partner. To aid its progress has been the basic object of our foreign policy for 17 years." - President John F. Kennedy, 1962¹³⁷

There are countless strategies bandied about Washington for America's approach toward the Middle East, China, India, Southeast Asia, Latin America, Africa, or Russia. But Europe has not gotten similar treatment in the Washington policy community. This is understandable. Close allies bound together through NATO have not felt the need to think strategically about each other.

However, with Europe at a crossroads, the United States needs to end the ambivalence toward the project of European integration. America needs a Europe strategy that identifies what it wants Europe to be—united, free, democratic, and a global player. With that as a goal, the United States should seek to bolster Europe's integration and democratic cohesion and build a stronger and more integrated partnership with the European Union. Pushing for further integration and to further empower the European Union is not simply driven by the goal of trying to prevent the European Union's collapse but also by trying to ensure a positive outcome: Europe's rise. American geopolitical thinkers should view Europe as a rising power.

American strategy toward Europe could have notable impact on Europe's future course—perhaps more so than any other U.S. regional strategy—because the United States retains substantial influence in Europe. America continues to act as the guarantor of European security and the facilitator for the European integration project, giving the United States unparalleled influence and clout. European leaders and institutions constantly look to America for direction and for approval. Indeed, a report from the European Council on Foreign Relations on European approaches to developing European strategic autonomy (ESA) found:

The relationship with the US plays a more important role than any other topic in European countries' debate on strategic autonomy: in 17 EU member states, ESA efforts' implications for the relationship with the US is one of the leading issues of debate - coming before those such as ESA's implications for foreign policy and defence capabilities.138

In other words, the U.S. relationship is central to European decision-making.

Yet the United States has not used its influence to push for further integration in decades. It is time for that to change. America has been essentially absent from the robust debate within Europe about its strategic direction. Nevertheless, despite America's lack of involvement, the U.S. presence is constantly felt. While the United States does not have the ability to snap its fingers and move Europe to adopt sweeping reforms, a shift in America's diplomatic approach to fully supporting Europe's integration could have a significant, if not transformative, impact.

This section highlights seven areas for action by the United States. This list is by no means exhaustive, as there are many important and creative ideas for how to revive the European Union and the trans-Atlantic relationship.

Pursue a new special relationship with the European Union

Washington has not sought to develop a robust strategic relationship with the European Union. It should do so. The special relationship between the United States and the United Kingdom could serve as a model. But America needs to do something that it has yet to do: propose such a relationship.

Try to make Brussels the center of gravity for European foreign policy

By engaging regularly with the European Union, the president of the European Commission, the European Council, and the EU high representative, as well as other senior officials, the United States will be working to elevate the European Union both in the eyes of the world and within Europe. By first going to the European Union, the United States would by default be putting it at the center of European foreign policy decision-making. Influence within a bureaucratic structure is often less about organizational charts but rather about proximity to power. Strengthening the Brussels-Washington relationship will inevitably make the European Union more central to European foreign policy.

Therefore, instead of treating engagement with Brussels as an afterthought, the United States should have a deliberate strategy to treat Brussels as America's primary interlocutor in Europe. This does not mean that the United States should ignore the current power realities within Europe and neglect diplomatic engagement with European capitals such as Berlin and Paris. But in its diplomacy, the United States should deliberately seek to include and elevate the European Union's status.

An approach of first going to the European Union will sometimes be frustrating for Washington. The European Union will likely struggle to respond or engage substantively at times. However, Washington needs to take the long view, just as it is doing in trying to build and strengthen its relationship with India, another rising global power. 139 Similarly, the United States needs to have patience in engaging the European Union. This is a long-term strategy designed to elevate the European Union over time.

To elevate the status of the European Union, a new American administration should take a number of steps to signal the importance of the union:

- · Hold a U.S.-EU summit with the goal of announcing a new special relationship. A new administration should seek to breathe life into the U.S.-EU summit. The objective of this summit, which should be held early in the first year of a post-Trump administration, would be to lay the foundation for a new relationship and to forge common approaches and actions to address many of the key issues and challenges mentioned below. Proposing the creation of a new special relationship would likely be eagerly accepted by the European Union. However, the purpose of such a proposal is not merely symbolic but is also intended to set the stage for the development of joint U.S.-EU policies on a variety of issues, such as Russia, China, trade, climate change, and international corruption and money laundering.
- · Hold a White House state dinner for the presidents of the European Commission and the European Council. A new administration should hold a state dinner with the European Commission president, Ursula von der Leyen. Formal White House state dinners are important symbolic events that bestow a level of prestige on the visitor. A new administration should also encourage Congress to invite von der Leyen to speak before a joint session of Congress, as NATO Secretary General Jens Stoltenberg did in April 2019.

 Make Brussels the president's first stop in Europe and give an address in the European **Parliament.** A new president should go to Brussels on their first trip to Europe. Speaking to the elected representatives of the European Union is the best venue to speak to the people of Europe and outline a new vision for U.S.-EU relations.

Work to influence the development of the European Union's global outlook

As the European Union seeks to take on a global role, the United States should seek to shape and influence the European Union's approach, just as the British sought to guide the United States during and after World War II. The European Union has established a high representative for foreign affairs and security policy and created a diplomatic service, the External Action Service, which is made up of permanent EU staff as well as diplomatic personnel seconded from its European members. The European Union is now developing a way of doing business and seeing the world. While it can rely on its member states for direction, the United States should also seek to provide input and guidance with the goal of shaping and developing the European Union's diplomatic outlook and approach.

- Direct U.S. embassies abroad to prioritize collaboration and engagement with EU delegations. To do so, U.S. embassies around the world, not just the State Department's Bureau of European and Eurasian Affairs, should be instructed to prioritize engagement and collaboration with EU diplomatic counterparts. The objective is to develop a shared outlook toward issues and countries. For instance, if the United States is concerned about Chinese actions in the South China Sea, it should be constantly engaging and talking with EU delegations both in the region and in Brussels to ensure the European Union views the situation similarly. Some of this diplomatic engagement is already taking place, but there should be a concerted U.S. diplomatic effort from embassies all around the world to engage and coordinate with EU missions. Laying the groundwork to ensure that there is little daylight between the United States and the European Union, just as the United States has done in its special relationship with the United Kingdom, will help strengthen the trans-Atlantic alliance.
- Bolster the security cooperation office within the U.S. Embassy to the European Union. The United States should be engaging not just NATO on strategic and defense issues but the European Union as well. The European Union obviously lacks a significant defense and security culture or know-how. The U.S. military, which has large and expansive security cooperation offices at embassies around the world, should expand its engagement with the European Union and its defense-related offices and agencies, providing guidance on procurement, force structure, and defense planning

and organization, as well as providing guidance for a military expert policy. 140 While some EU members, like France, excel in these areas, the United States should seek to be engaged and support the development of an EU defense capability.

Undo the damage of the Trump administration

In order to rebuild relations with Europe after President Trump leaves office, it is essential that a new American administration immediately reverse a number of critical policy errors made by the Trump administration, namely withdrawing from the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) and the Paris climate agreement.

- Work with Europe when seeking to rejoin the JCPOA with Iran. The United States, the European Union, and major European powers all negotiated the Iran nuclear agreement, or JCPOA, together. The unilateral withdrawal from the agreement and U.S. threats of sanctions against European companies adhering to the deal have caused a major rift in the trans-Atlantic relationship. The United States should work closely with Europe as it seeks to rejoin the JCPOA and remove sanctions that affect European countries for complying with the JCPOA.
- Rejoin the Paris climate agreement. The Trump administration's withdrawal from the Paris climate agreement made the United States one of the only countries in the world not part of the accord. This step was particularly galling to EU leaders, who have prioritized climate change and are taking bold steps to reduce emissions. It also prompted European Council President Donald Tusk at an EU-China summit to announce that the European Union would be "stepping up [its] cooperation on climate change with China."141 The United States should not only rejoin the agreement but also take bold steps to reduce emissions in line with its European allies.
- Stop the trade war with Europe. Instead of working to forge stronger trading relationships with Europe, the Trump administration started a trade war, threatening and invoking tariffs, harming both economies, hurting economic growth, and increasing mutual suspicion. A new administration should seek a cooperative relationship and should end the tariffs imposed on the European Union and should stop threatening additional tariffs against the European Union.
- Reaffirm U.S. support for arms control and international conventions. During John Bolton's tenure as national security adviser, the United States conducted an assault on international institutions and conventions, such as by denying visas to employees

of the international criminal court, ripping up arms control agreements, and even withdrawing from an international postal treaty. Reversing these ideologically driven steps is a top priority that will also affirm that the United States stands for international rules.

Use U.S. diplomatic influence to bolster European integration and empower the European Union

The United States should use its significant diplomatic influence with European states to further European integration. U.S. ambivalence or opposition to European integration often serves as an unspoken constraint when discussing efforts to integrate foreign and defense policy. Instead, the United States should make its voice heard in the vibrant debates over Europe's future.

· Push for the European Union to adopt quality majority voting (QMV) in foreign and security policy. As the European Union expanded to include 28 member countries, it moved away from requiring unanimity in the European Council to make a decision and toward "qualified majority voting," which requires a majority of members representing 65 percent of the population. 142 However, foreign and security policy remains one of the few policy areas where the European Council still requires unanimity. In June 2018, France and Germany agreed to explore the use of QMV in foreign and security policy. Jean-Claude Juncker, the former president of the European Commission, argued for QMV in 2018 speech, saying that "it is this compulsive need for unanimity that is keeping us from being able to act credibly on the global stage."143 The need for QMV was demonstrated vividly this year when Italy blocked a joint statement on Venezuela, and Poland and Hungary blocked the statement at the EU-Arab summit. 144 As Leonard Schuette argued for the Centre for European Reform:

*In response to enlargement, the EU has therefore continuously extended the appli*cation of majority voting to other policy fields, so that it now applies to over 90 per cent of EU legislation. ... QMV would make the EU a more effective foreign policy actor. It would put the 'common' back in CFSP [Common Foreign and Security Policy] by combatting divide-and-rule tactics and encouraging unity.¹⁴⁵

The United States should assertively back the expansion of QMV into foreign affairs and should press EU members to support this change. As the European Commission explained, the issue of QMV will determine "whether the European Union wants to be a pillar of the emerging multipolar global order or whether it will resign itself to being a pawn."146

 Press the European Union to bolster its economic resilience, create an EU fiscal policy, and boost EU economic growth. The stability of the euro remains the gravest threat to the European Union. The economic divergence between northern and southern Europe and the lack of economic growth and high unemployment has put severe strain on the financial sectors in member states. The European Union has embraced the economics of austerity, preventing states—particularly in Southern Europe from stimulating their economies. The United States should support the eurozone proposals put forth by French President Macron to bolster the European Union's resilience in the event of an economic crisis. Macron, in a speech in September 2017, proposed a fiscal union that would have a eurozone budget and an EU finance minister. He also called for a banking union to prevent bank runs and to bolster the European Union's ability to support states experiencing an economic turmoil. 147 German Chancellor Merkel's unwillingness to support these proposals and opposition from Northern European states has meant Macron's plans went nowhere. 148 The United States, however, should aggressively push the European Union to take steps to bolster its economic resilience.

The United States, during the Obama administration, attempted to press Germany to take a less hard-line approach toward Greece during its economic crisis and the negotiations over a debt bailout. However, the United States was rebuffed by Chancellor Merkel, and after the 2014 Ukraine crisis, the United States relegated economic diplomacy to a secondary priority. 149 The Trump administration is not wrong that Germany has benefited immensely from essentially having an undervalued currency for its exports but has aggressively called out Germany in ways that were often inaccurate, tactless, and easy for Berlin to wave away. 150 But instead of engaging in escalating trade disputes with the European Union, the United States should advocate that the European Union take steps to stimulate growth in its economic sluggish regions and to bolster the euro.

 Press Eastern European countries to support EU defense and foreign policy integration. When it comes to defense, Eastern European nations, many of them encouraged by the United States, have served to guard against EU expansion into defense and "duplication" with NATO. Viewing NATO as key to their security because of the role of the United States in deterring Russian aggression, Eastern European states are very wary about EU efforts that might sideline the United States. The United States can both reassure these states through its engagement with the European Union in the development of an EU defense capability and pressure them to back EU defense efforts.

• Develop a joint strategy to counter democratic backsliding in the European Union and NATO. A major institutional flaw of the European Union and NATO has emerged with the rise of populist leaders who have worked to roll back democracy. Hungary looks more like an autocracy than a democracy now.¹⁵¹ Poland's government has sought to replicate Hungary's trajectory, and anti-corruption efforts in Romania have been rolled back.¹⁵² In NATO, Turkey remains a member despite its autocratic turn and anti-alliance actions, such as purchasing the Russian S-400 air and missile defense system.¹⁵³ The European Union has been exceptionally weak in policing this unraveling of democracy. The Obama administration was outspoken in expressing concern about this trajectory,¹⁵⁴ chastising Poland and limiting high-level diplomatic engagement with Hungary. But the Trump administration has actively encouraged this illiberal shift.¹⁵⁵ The United States, European Union, and NATO should seek to take action to deter states from going down this path. This means identifying punitive actions and identifying points of leverage to pressure countries, as well as exploring potential institutional reforms to automatically trigger punitive measures or legal review.

Support the formation of a robust EU foreign and defense capability and simultaneously bolster NATO

After the NATO treaty was signed in 1949, the United States backed European defense integration as a means to rebuild Europe's armed forces destroyed in the war. In 1952, the French proposed a treaty to establish the European Defense Community and received strong American backing. Secretary of State John Foster Dulles pushed aggressively for the treaty and creation of a European military, saying, "No more will there be national [European] armies to fight each other and to invade each other in a quest for national triumphs. There will only be the common army so interlocked that no single member of the community could in practice commit armed aggression."156 France, West Germany, Italy, and the Benelux countries then signed the treaty, with the intention of creating a European army. Yet France ultimately failed to ratify the treaty, despite the fact that it was France's idea. 157 In the 1990s, when the idea for defense integration was revived with the establishment of the European Union, the United States, uncertain about Europe's direction in a post-Cold War world and fearing competition with NATO, largely opposed these efforts. The United States should once again support the creation of a common European defense capability to help rebuild Europe's armed forces just as it did nearly 70 years ago. America should stop opposing the integration of European defense through the European Union. It poses no threat to NATO, and integrating European defense through the European Union is likely the only way Europe will develop a significant and robust defense capability.

Recent American efforts to encourage European states to spend more and expand their defense capabilities have largely failed and will likely continue to fail. While countries neighboring Russia have increased defense spending, and European overall spending has increased after 2014, the shift has been gradual. The focus on pushing nations to spend 2 percent of GDP on defense is a worthy and necessary goal, but it is simply not a priority for most European domestic populations. A Eurobarometer poll found that 75 percent supported a common EU defense and security policy—10 percent more than the share who supported a common EU foreign policy. Furthermore, even in Poland, a skeptical EU country that has opposed EU defense, the poll found that nearly 80 percent support a common defense and security policy. 158

Tellingly, support is higher for a common defense policy than a foreign policy across Europe. The military dimension of foreign affairs is not something that galvanizes European publics anymore—it is seen as a collective, not a national, responsibility. Therefore, integrating European defense is no longer a third rail of European integration for Europeans, but it remains one for the United States.

American concerns over duplication between the European Union and NATO have become unchallenged gospel of American diplomacy toward Europe. Yet these concerns are drastically overblown and ignore the tangible need for an EU defense capability. Perhaps the greatest irony in the debate over EU defense occurs when Pentagon officials warn of the dangers of duplication—this from the largest bureaucracy in the world consisting of numerous overlapping combatant commands and military services. This overlap and duplication exists for a reason within the Pentagon: to prevent gaps in responsibilities. For example, the U.S. Special Operations Command has a global and specialized functional focus and operates in the U.S. Central Command's regional area of responsibility. There is overlap, so these commands coordinate. Likewise, NATO is not the European Union. Their membership is not the same. Finland, Sweden, Austria, Ireland, Cyprus, and Malta are EU members but not in NATO. The United States, Canada, Turkey, Norway, Iceland, Albania, and Montenegro are NATO members but are not in the European Union. The significant overlap between the European Union and NATO simply requires close coordination. As Europe becomes increasingly integrated into a union and begins to play a larger international role, it makes sense for it to develop its hard power capabilities. The European Union conducts operations abroad, as it has military and police training missions. It has deployed EU ships off the coast of Somalia and has a presence in Bosnia. The United States should encourage these roles and missions.

Furthermore, should the European Union actually develop a robust defense capability, NATO's core role of coordinating U.S., Canadian, and European forces would not fundamentally change. NATO would simply adapt, as it has consistently done throughout its history. As Seth Johnston explained in his book *How NATO Adapts:* Strategy and Organization in the Atlantic Alliance Since 1950, "Unlike other enduring post-World War II institutions that continue to reflect the international politics of their founding era, NATO stands out both for the boldness of its transformations as well as their frequency over a period of nearly seventy years."159

Furthermore, as the United States supports the development of an EU defense capability, it can and should also work vigorously to bolster NATO. The development of a robust EU defense will take time, likely decades, and will never serve to replace NATO, as the role of the United States will remain vital to European security. NATO plays, and will continue to play, an absolutely critical role in binding together the trans-Atlantic alliance, forging strategic alignment, coordinating the defense of Europe, identifying military capability gaps and deficits, and ensuring the 29 member nations can operate together militarily in an effective manner. Furthermore, the Article 5 commitment that NATO members make is the cornerstone of the most successful alliance in world history. The European Union exists because of NATO. And these two organizations—a military alliance and a union of nation-states—support, not detract, from each other. The United States should take the following steps:

 Support PESCO and encourage EU defense industrial integration. The European Union has a proven ability to integrate industrial sectors, something desperately needed in the European defense sector. The lack of coordination and integration of European defense forces makes Europe's defense industrial sector a disaggregated mess. European militaries taken together currently have more than 35 different types of tanks, nearly 20 types of combat aircraft, and more than 10 types of tanker aircraft. 160 NATO has largely been unsuccessful in integrating European procurement and acquisition of military equipment. Meanwhile, the European Union has successfully integrated many of Europe's economic sectors, including energy, transportation, telecommunication and trade. However, the defense industrial sector has not been Europeanized in the same way. This harms the interoperability of NATO forces and impinges on the flexibility of the overall force. While NATO expends considerable effort and attention to addressing these issues, coordination will remain a core challenge. Integrating Europe's defense industry into a common market, following the pattern of EU-wide harmonization in other sectors, would help to significantly rationalize European defense.

The process of harmonizing and integrating the defense industrial sectors across the continent is beginning through the creation of the European Defense Agency and through the European Union's Permanent Structured Cooperation (PESCO), which aims to deepen defense cooperation and jointly develop certain defense capabilities at the European Union level. 161 The Obama administration was supportive of PESCO, but the Trump administration has now opposed PESCO, to the initial surprise of the European Union. 162 This is self-defeating. America's concern about PESCO should not be that it is too bold, but rather that it is not nearly bold enough. Given that EU defense capabilities have atrophied so much, it makes sense to rebuild Europe's defense capabilities in a highly integrated and coordinated manner.

- Don't let the U.S. defense industry drive U.S. policy. America's national interests are not the same as the interests of the major U.S. defense companies. The Trump administration's opposition to PESCO, as expressed by former Secretary of Defense Mattis, stemmed largely due to fears within the U.S. defense industry of being locked out of the European defense market. 163 These concerns are not groundless, as that is the long-term objective of EU defense efforts: to form a single European defense market for which European defense companies will outfit European forces. However, the United States locks Europe out of the U.S. defense market, as the U.S. military must buy American. The U.S. defense industrial base will by no means go out of business by gradually losing a share of the European market. In fact, in the long term, the United States and Europe could seek to expand defense industrial collaboration with the European Union, such as the United States has done through defense trade treaties with the United Kingdom and Australia. 164
- If the European Union wants to create a European army, support it creating an army. The debate over a European army—one that astute European analysts note is almost certainly not going to happen—could in fact be in the interests of the United States. 165 One of the reasons such a force has had no chance of happening is because of reflexive opposition from the United States—and therefore also from its close security allies in Europe, such as Poland. However, with the backing of the United States, such a force may not be as far-fetched as it currently seems and may make NATO even stronger. Many American analysts, unlike during the period after World War II, now see a European army as inimical to U.S. interests, either because they distrust EU intentions and view the EU as anti-American or because they believe a European force would be much less helpful to America, as it would suffer from a collective action problem of getting 28 members to agree. The problem with this pessimistic prediction of a European army is that it differs very little from the present dynamic. European countries currently bring few capabilities to bear, and individual

states question the utility of acting because of their limited capabilities. Even if Europe became even more reticent to act abroad, a European army would be more effective in defending Europe. That would be a significant contribution that could enable the U.S. to shift forces elsewhere.

- Help the European Union develop a separate command structure and provide guidance to the development of EU defense capabilities. It makes sense for the European Union to have the ability to coordinate its defense and oversee its missions abroad independent of NATO. This is because they are not the same organization. President Trump could easily decide to not come to the defense of Sweden or Finland were these countries attacked by Russia, because the United States has no treaty obligation to non-NATO members. Yet the European Union has a mutual defense clause to come to the defense of its members. It is therefore appropriate for the European Union to have an overlapping command structure. Moreover, as noted, the European Union undertakes missions abroad, such as naval operations to address piracy and peacekeeping in Africa and the Balkans. A unified command structure will make the European Union more likely to act and more capable when it does so. Instead of opposing the creation of a distinct EU command, the Pentagon should embrace it and seek to help shape its creation. The U.S. military should devote officers to embed within a potential command and should expand its cooperation with PESCO and the European Defense Agency by providing guidance on acquisition processes as well as identifying capabilities that a European Defense Fund should seek to develop.
- Encourage NATO-EU collaboration. There has been significant progress in EU-NATO relations over the past decade, as there is a recognition in NATO of the European Union's growing importance. 166 The United States should strongly support this collaboration and work to ensure that, as the European Union moves into the defense space, it is firmly in sync with NATO.
- Create an Eastern European Investment Initiative to help countries retire old Soviet and Russian systems. Supporting EU efforts to integrate defense does not mean the United States should not simultaneously push and encourage European states to modernize their defense capabilities. The United States should create a new type of security assistance program that combines the provision of grant funding with loans to help encourage NATO states still operating Soviet and Russian equipment to modernize their forces. The United States helped rebuild allied European militaries after World War II, yet no such effort was made after the end of the Cold War. As a result, eastern NATO members must recapitalize huge stocks of equipment but lack the resources to do so. This program could help these countries rebuild their forces. 167

Forge common U.S.-EU approaches to address the challenge posed by rising authoritarianism from states such as Russia and China

The critical geopolitical challenge confronting the United States and Europe stems from rising authoritarianism. Forging common approaches with the European Union toward Russia and China, as well as supporting democracy and human rights globally, should be a top priority for the United States.

Russia

Developing a common U.S.-EU approach to deter and contain Russia should be a top diplomatic priority for the United States.¹⁶⁸ However, doing so may be a challenge. After Russia's interference in the 2016 U.S. election, there was an opening for the United States to forge a strong, common approach with Europe to counter Russia's malign influence. Yet considerable time has now passed. The sense of urgency in both the United States and Europe to counter Russia has been largely lost. As a result, the common European approach toward Russia forged after it illegally seized Crimea and after its invasion of eastern Ukraine in 2014 is fraying.

Prior to 2014, Europe was divided toward Russia and lacked a common approach. 169 Europe is now drifting back to a pre-2014 stance toward Moscow. Voices in Germany have grown louder in calling for reengagement with Russia, and even French President Macron has pivoted, now seeking to mend ties causing unease through much of Europe. 170

Russia has also strengthened economic and political ties with populist leaders in states such as Hungary¹⁷¹ and Italy.¹⁷² In Germany, hostility toward the Trump administration and the United States has revived political support for warming relations with Russia. 173 The pendulum within the European Union is swinging away from those advocating for a more assertive approach and toward those supporting a warming of relations. While sanctions are still in place, they erode over time, as sanctioned entities restructure and do business under different names. The existing sanctions have therefore lost much of their bite, yet there is little appetite to go further.

This is deeply troubling. Since Russia's interference in the 2016 election, it has used a chemical weapon on EU soil in an attempt to assassinate Russian defector Sergei Skripal in the United Kingdom; 174 engaged in an elaborate espionage effort in the Netherlands against the Organization for the Prevention of Chemical Weapons;¹⁷⁵ provided online support for political movements that destabilize the European Union; provided financial support through Russian banks for populist campaigns; 176 adopted

an increasingly hostile military posture toward NATO; ¹⁷⁷ and fired on Ukrainian ships and kidnapped Ukrainian sailors. ¹⁷⁸ Furthermore, special counsel Robert Mueller's investigation has revealed a highly developed and impactful Russian interference campaign in the 2016 election. ¹⁷⁹ Yet the United States has not diplomatically engaged European allies on the findings in the special counsel investigation and the need to take action against Russia's malign influence.

Establishing a common U.S.-EU approach toward Russia should be a high priority for a new American administration, as it could have significant impact on the Kremlin and would help strengthen the European Union's internal cohesion. There are a number of steps the United States and the European Union should take together:

- 1. The United States and the European Union should look to strengthen sanctions against Russia, in particular targeting Russia's oligarch class.
- 2. The United States and Europe should continue to bolster NATO's ability to deter Russia.
- **3.** The United States and the European Union should take aggressive action to combat Russian money laundering.
- **4.** The United States should press European states and the European Union to investigate and expose Russian interference, just as special counsel Robert Mueller's investigation has done.
- **5.** The United States and the European Union should strengthen transparency laws and adopt reforms to prevent foreign interference in elections. ¹⁸⁰
- 6. The United States and the European Union should work together to regulate social media companies, which have become vectors for malign foreign influence campaigns.¹⁸¹

China

Perhaps the biggest missed opportunity of the Trump administration when it comes to U.S.-European relations was failing to forge a common trans-Atlantic approach toward China. Instead, the Trump administration engaged in trade disputes with both China and the European Union when it could have confronted China arm-in-arm with the second-largest economy in the world. 182

There is now strong bipartisan support in the United States for a more confrontational approach toward China, especially in response to its manipulation of global trade rules. In Europe, there is also a growing sense of concern about Chinese trade

and investment practices. While Europe is not as concerned about China as the United States is, the level of unease is growing. Meanwhile, China is working aggressively to gain influence.

The Trump administration has missed a crucial window to build a unified position, and now, support for strengthening ties with China have grown within Europe. Ongoing Chinese influence efforts are having an impact. 183 China's promotion of a 5G network has found several European countries as willing suitors, despite—and perhaps because of—opposition from the Trump administration.¹⁸⁴

Forging a common U.S.-EU approach toward China should be a top priority for the United States. This should involve enacting a unified plan for confronting China over its unfair trade practices within the World Trade Organization (WTO). It should also involve sharing information and developing a plan to address Chinese investment in sensitive economic areas. The United States and the European Union should also stand united on China regarding its gross human rights abuses, such as in Xinjiang and in efforts to crack down on protestors in Hong Kong.

Bolster democracies

The United States and the European Union should also work together to help bolster democracy and human rights abroad. As CAP outlined in a previous report, the United States should pursue a democratic values-based foreign policy. 185 A new American administration should host a "summit of democracies" and should seek to develop a new U.S.-EU partnership to support emerging democracies by working to better coordinate development, economic, and security assistance efforts as well as by creating various economic and political incentives for states to stay on the democratic path. Such an effort could help counter the malign influence of Chinese investment and assistance, which often serves to seed corruption and undermine democratic institutions, particularly in Africa.

Additionally, the United States and the European Union should coordinate positions vis-a-vis human rights violators as well as autocratic states that flout international law. For instance, a joint U.S.-EU response to the brutal murder of the journalist Jamal Khashoggi by Saudi Arabia could have had a significant impact. 186 U.S. and EU efforts to jointly call out and act against human rights violators could serve as a significant deterrent. The United States and the European Union should explore creating a high-level joint human rights working group that endeavors to call out violators and develops a series of joint U.S.-EU responses, such as targeted sanctions, cutting off arms sales, and suspension of assistance.

Strengthen the economic partnership with the European Union

Strengthening and building economic ties between the United States and the European Union, the two largest economies in the world, is critical in an era of great power competition. However, developing economic ties with Europe should go beyond the traditional framework of now-familiar trade deals. A renewed economic partnership with the European Union should focus on promoting broad and equitable growth, expanding transparency, and on developing people-to-people ties between the United States and Europe.

The United States and the European Union are already close economic partners. A total of \$4 billion in goods and services cross the Atlantic, constituting one-third of global trade and 40 percent of trade in services. In 2016, European firms made up nearly three-fourths of the total foreign investment in United States. The European Union, not China, is America's biggest trading partner and is the largest market for U.S. exports. As a report from the Center for Transatlantic Relations at Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies highlights, "45 of the 50 U.S. states exported more to Europe than to China in 2015. ... The output of U.S. companies operating in Europe of \$717 billion in 2015 was roughly double the output of U.S. companies operating throughout all of Asia (\$363 billion)."187

The United States should seek more than a trade agreement with Europe ... The goal of an economic partnership with the European Union is not just economic; it is political and geopolitical as well.

However, the weight and importance of the U.S. market to Europe is declining as China rises. EU exports to the United States have fallen from 27 percent to 20 percent, and exports to China from the European Union are rapidly increasing.¹⁸⁸ The Trump administration has treated the European Union as if it were an economic adversary, not a partner, even threatening a trade war with it. 189 Instead of working with the European Union to address China, the Trump administration is pushing the European Union toward China. 190

Yet there is considerable opportunity to expand U.S.-EU economic cooperation. However, previous efforts to reach a new trade agreement, such as through the Transatlantic Trade Investment Partnership (TTIP), were narrow, largely focusing on a corporate agenda with political leaders and social interests largely on the sidelines. The emphasis on reducing tariff barriers, which are already quite low, and on creating an extrajudicial mechanism to address trade disputes—despite strong democratic judicial systems on both sides of the Atlantic—was misguided. There

is little appetite on either side of the Atlantic for renewing these talks. As Daniel Hamilton, former State Department official and the executive director of the Center for Transatlantic Relations at Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies, assesses, "Politically, the TTIP path may have run out of road." 191

A new administration should think more broadly. The United States should seek more than a trade agreement with Europe; it should develop an economic partnership that seeks to improve living standards, expand markets, address inequities in taxation and regulatory gaps, build people-to-people ties, and set the standard for international rules by creating a powerful economic bloc. The goal of an economic partnership with the European Union is not just economic; it is political and geopolitical as well.

The European Union, with its high environmental and labor standards, is an ideal partner. While other trade agreements, such as the TPP, have raised concerns over weak labor and regulatory standards, that simply is not the case with the European Union. In fact, a major public concern within the European Union in previous trade negotiations was that it would have to lower its standards to reach an agreement with the United States. 192 While the United States and the European Union largely possess high standards across the spectrum, the issue is that these standards all differ slightly. This means that U.S. and EU regulators are spending a lot of precious time and energy enforcing regulations against each other to address small variances instead of focusing on countries with weaker standards. Harmonizing regulations could therefore create tremendous opportunities, especially for small- and mediumsized enterprises, which—unlike large corporations—are less able to adapt and comply with multiple sets of international regulatory standards.

The United States and Europe are also highly technologically advanced and educated societies full of innovative companies that invest significantly into research and development. A closer economic partnership, for instance, could create a robust, clean energy market. It could further integrate transportation sectors, reducing trans-Atlantic travel costs and expanding people-to-people connections. It could spur greater infrastructure investment and competition between firms, reducing costs of rebuilding American infrastructure. It could also look to expand travel and work opportunities for Americans and Europeans in each other's markets. Enabling greater collaboration in "Major services sectors such as electricity, transport, distribution and business," as Hamilton argues, "could present vast opportunities to firms and huge gains to consumers in both the EU and the United States."193

Both the United States and Europe also have significant economic problems that have given rise to populist political leaders. The United States and Europe are coping with similar economic and social challenges: rising inequality; slow economic growth; migration and immigration; disparities in economic growth between rural and urban areas; tax avoidance through offshore tax havens and money laundering; impact of growing workforce automation; the disruption caused by unregulated social media companies; and the impact of China's unfair trade practices. Yet the United States and Europe are currently not forging a common approach toward these issues.

A new administration should seek to engage the European Union—as well as other potential democratic partners—to forge a common approach to address these various economic issues in a transformative way. The objective should not simply be about forging new trade agreements and opening new markets to competition; it should also aim to produce better economic outcomes that help advance social and economic cohesion in order to close off space for radical populist leaders.

As Hamilton concluded, striving to create a "North Atlantic Marketplace would offer a reset for the transatlantic relationship by allowing the United States, the EU, and their closest North Atlantic allies and partners to move on from TTIP by negotiating a more effective partnership focused squarely on creating jobs, boosting growth, and ensuring that North Atlantic countries remain rule-makers, rather than rule-takers, in the global economy." This could make the United States and the European Union, the two largest economies in the world, the focal point for the global economy and could encourage other countries around the world to follow their model and example in order to gain market access.

In addition to building an economic partnership, the United States should take other tangible steps:

· Work with the European Union to jointly file a nullification and impairment case against China at the WTO. As Melanie Hart and Kelly Magsamen argue in a recent CAP report, China is currently "undermining the global trading system by violating the rules and norms of that system and then using its market size to evade or undermine international enforcement efforts." 194 They note, "The WTO dispute settlement provisions give member nations the option to file cases against nations whose actions violate the organization at a foundational level and, by doing so, effectively nullify the benefits the organization was designed to provide its members." The United States should engage the European Union on a joint effort to hold China to account for its abuses and violations of WTO rules.

- Negotiate a digital trade agreement with the European Union. The United States should work in partnership with the European Union on protecting the internet. An open global internet is key to the U.S. economy. The U.S. digital economy in 2016 supported 5.9 million jobs at wages nearly twice the national average. 195 Digital services amounted to more than \$400 billion per year. 196 As Hart and Magsamen argue, "The United States should work with like-minded partners to create a safe space for digital trade, one that enshrines open internet principles. That agreement should combine the digital two-dozen regulatory principles with European privacy rules, which the United States should adopt."
- Jointly address money laundering. Autocrats thrive on corruption and the ability to launder their ill-gotten gains into the global financial system. The lack of transparency in financial and banking sectors allows widespread money laundering and for the wealthy to shield their money in offshore tax havens. 197 This is a problem for both the United States and Europe. But the European banking sector has been awash in money laundering scandals. The European Banking Authority has come under criticism from the European Parliament for failing to fulfil its role of policing the banking sector. 198 Europe faces significant challenges when it comes to combating money laundering, although it has recently taken important steps toward shoring up these defenses. 199 In April 2018, as part of a response to the revelations in the Panama Papers, the European Parliament adopted its fifth Anti-Money Laundering Directive. This directive addressed a number of methods to improve European defenses against money laundering, including highlighting the importance of increased transparency around beneficial ownership of companies and trusts and emphasizing the need to improve cooperation among financial authorities.²⁰⁰ Transparency is one of the most effective tools to combat dirty money that flows across international lines. In the interest of a stronger global financial network, the United States should continue to strengthen its existing financial transparency policies and promote comprehensive trans-Atlantic cooperation on this issue.

By strengthening its own defenses against money laundering and illicit financial behavior, the United States can act as a model for Europe on these issues. The U.S. Department of the Treasury's Financial Crimes Enforcement Network announced in 2018 that it would be issuing revised geographic targeting orders requiring more extensive ownership disclosure around real estate purchases.²⁰¹ The United States should continue pushing for more stringent due diligence requirements in the real estate industry and encourage Europe to follow suit, as this helps prevent illicit financial activity in the global real estate market. It is also crucial to promote

coordination and cooperation between various financial authorities. Europe lacks a centralized authority focusing solely on anti-money laundering efforts, making it more difficult to coordinate efforts across multiple jurisdictions.²⁰²

A new American administration should prioritize this issue with Europe and seek to create a stronger trans-Atlantic response to money laundering. More robust anti-money laundering efforts could help transform Europe into a more stringent early checkpoint for financial transparency.

Ally with the European Union to address other urgent global challenges and help strengthen the international order

Working in tandem with the European Union, the United States will be better able to both address global challenges and build a stronger and more liberal international order that better protects human rights and upholds democratic values.

Climate and energy. European leaders continue to strongly demonstrate their commitment to addressing climate change. The new president of the European Commission, Ursula von der Leyen, has made climate change a top priority for Europe, pledging to make it carbon neutral by 2050.²⁰³ French President Macron has announced initial plans for a tax on all imports, including U.S. imports, coming from countries without carbon pricing schemes.²⁰⁴ Combating climate change will be a top priority for the European Union, and it should be a top priority for a new U.S. administration. The Trump administration's withdrawal from the Paris climate agreement has resulted in the United States becoming isolated from international climate policy discussions. As part of a new partnership with the European Union, a new administration should not just rejoin the Paris agree but also work with the European Union to aggressively address the threat to the planet.

Migration challenge. Challenges to European security are challenges to the security of the United States. This means the United States should eagerly look to help support and work with Europe on migration. Migration to Europe from Africa and the Middle East is one of the most difficult challenges confronting the European Union and is a driver of radical populism that threatens to undermine the European Union and democratic institutions. Unlike the United States, this issue represents a more acute challenge for European states, with their higher degree of cultural homogeneity and lack of history of successfully absorbing mass migration.

One critical challenge is that migration disproportionately affects a few European states, particularly Italy, Greece, and Spain. The transit of migrants within the European Union has at times threatened to unravel the Schengen Zone, which enables free movement without border checks. For example, Sweden started instituting border checks with Denmark.²⁰⁵ It should not be up to individual EU countries to cope on their own with mass migration. The European Union needs a common approach that equitably shifts responsibility to all EU members. This, as expected, has been extremely politically challenging. The United States should use its diplomatic clout to encourage the unionization of migration policy.

Ultimately, the European Union will determine its strategy for dealing with migration. However, the United States and NATO should also engage the European Union in developing a common approach to help address some of the root causes of migration, such as instability in North Africa and the Middle East. As Steven Cook argues in Foreign Policy, "It would be an exaggeration to suggest that as goes North Africa so goes Europe but not by much. ... Given how energy, migration, extremism, and Russia's ambition coincide in North Africa to threaten European stability, it does not seem wise for U.S. policymakers to continue to treat the region as an afterthought."206 There are no easy solutions to such a huge international challenge, but the United States should work to create a common plan with the European Union that pursues a humane approach to this difficult issue.

Balkans. The Balkans are once again a geopolitically contested region. The European Union still has peacekeepers in Bosnia, and NATO operates a peacekeeping mission in Kosovo. Meanwhile, Russia has sought to build ties to the region to undermine its integration into the European Union and NATO. Russia has sought to develop its relations with Serbia; is cultivating the leadership of the ethnically Serbian region of Bosnia, the Republika Srpska, to block potential EU ascension as well as to keep the country divided; and is investing heavily in Russian media in the region.²⁰⁷ Russia even attempted to orchestrate a coup in Montenegro to prevent it from joining NATO.²⁰⁸ China is also seeking to develop relations with the Western Balkans, significantly expanding its economic investments and seeking to engage the region through the 16+1 dialogue it has created. The Balkans are viewed as a key part of the Belt and Road Initiative and seen as a gateway to Europe. 209 This is a critical region for both the United States and Europe, yet it has often been overlooked. The United States and the European Union should work together to forge a common strategy for the region.

Arms control and cyber. The U.S. withdrawal from the Intermediate-Range Nuclear Forces (INF) Treaty without informing its European allies, who are potentially the

targets of Russian intermediate cruise missiles, was diplomatic malpractice. This decision made the United States—not Russia—seem at fault for the treaty's collapse, despite the fact that Russia had been violating the treaty.²¹⁰ A new American administration should seek to work with Europe to jointly reengage Russia, as well as China, on creating a potentially global INF Treaty. More urgently, however, a new U.S. administration must immediately seek to extend the New Strategic Arms Reduction Treaty (START) with Russia in order to prevent a new arms race.²¹¹

Additionally, the United States should work with the European Union in leading new international arms control efforts to tackle emerging technologies, such as lethal autonomous weapons, cyberspace, and biological and chemical weapons. There has been too much international passivity in addressing the spread of new weapons technology. European states have often sought to lead on these issues, while the United States has been reluctant to engage in the U.N. Convention on Certain Conventional Weapons. 212 However, a joint U.S.-EU effort could lead the way and put pressure on China and Russia to come to the table. Should those efforts prove fruitless, the United States will have at the very least exposed Russia and China as uncooperative actors.

Conclusion

This report calls for America to revert back to its historical roots and vigorously support European integration. After World War II and throughout the Cold War, the United States pushed for European integration, to reduce the barriers between European states, and to form a union of European peoples and nations. When the Treaty of Rome was signed in 1957, creating the European Economic Community, President Dwight D. Eisenhower said that "the day this common market [European Economic Community became a reality would be one of the finest days in the history of the free world, perhaps even more so than winning the war."213 Europe's union was about winning peace.

The United States, however, lost sight of the importance of the European project. America's oscillation between ambivalence and hostility toward the European Union over the last few decades has made it a force for the status quo and often an obstacle to further European integration. However, the United States needs strong allies now more than any time since the end of the Cold War to cope with the challenge of rising authoritarianism. The United States needs Europe to return to the world's stage as a strong geopolitical player and voice for liberal values. For Europe to assert itself globally, it needs to do so as one—as a union.

America's state-centric approach toward engaging Europe, centered around engagement at NATO, has left—and will continue to leave—America disappointed. European states, in large part because of the European Union, will become more parochial in their outlook. In searching for geopolitical drive in Europe, Washington will find it in the European Union. But the European Union remains hamstrung by its member states, which, often encouraged by the United States, have blocked efforts integrate foreign and security policy. European integration now seems stuck, as Europe copes with an increasingly divisive turn in its politics. Just as the United States did during the European Union's founding, the United States may be able to move Europe forward by vigorously engaging the European Union and its capitals and pushing for further integration not just on foreign and security policy, but also in other areas that will also strengthen the resilience of the European Union, such as in fiscal policy, a banking union, and on migration.

The United States should seek to forge common approaches on a broad swath of critical issues, including climate change, economic prosperity, China, Russia, and arms control. The United States and the European Union, working in tandem, can help drive the global agenda and ensure that the 21st century moves in a liberal and democratic direction as opposed to an autocratic one.

However, questions will certainly be asked whether a new American administration, even through vigorous engagement, will be able to move Europe and the European Union. American clout is not what it was at the end of the Cold War and nowhere near what it was after World War II. The Trump presidency has caused a massive decline in America's credibility and prompted many Europeans to question the wisdom of aligning with the United States. Additionally, politics and economics may intervene. President Trump may win reelection, democratic elections in Europe may result in new populist governments, and an economic recession could raise new complications.

This report, however, believes that an approach centered on building a new partnership or special relationship between the United States and the European Union, on equal footing and focused on shared values, could achieve real progress. There will be frustrations and differences. Progress will be made on some issues and not on others, because that is what happens with democracies. Yet the process of vigorous engagement will, in the long run, build stronger relations and therefore forge a stronger alliance.

A renewed partnership between the United States and Europe—with the largest and wealthiest economies, most educated and technologically advanced societies, and consisting of the most formidable military alliance in history—can withstand a rising authoritarian tide. To secure the future, the United States should pivot toward Europe and once again fully support and encourage Europe's continued integration. It is time for America to embrace the European Union.

About the author

Max Bergmann is a senior fellow at the Center for American Progress, where he focuses on European security and U.S.-Russia policy. From 2011 to 2017, he served in the U.S. Department of State in a number of different positions, including as a member of the secretary of state's policy planning staff, where he focused on political-military affairs and nonproliferation; special assistant to the undersecretary for arms control and international security; speechwriter to then-Secretary of State John Kerry; and senior adviser to the assistant secretary of state for political-military affairs. Prior to serving in the State Department, he worked at CAP as a military and nonproliferation policy analyst and at the National Security Network as the deputy policy director. Bergmann received his master's degree from the London School of Economics in comparative politics and his bachelor's degree from Bates College.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Siena Cicarelli for her outstanding research assistance and for helping get this report over the finish line and to all my colleagues at the Center for American Progress and elsewhere who provided insightful comments and input.

Lastly, this report is heavily informed by a series of workshops on the rise of authoritarian populism that were convened with the support of Bloomberg Philanthropies and the Rockefeller Foundation. The statements and the views expressed are solely the responsibility of the Center for American Progress.

Endnotes

- 1 W.J. Hennigan, "President Trump Says NATO Allies Owe the U.S. Money, He's Wrong," Time, July 11, 2018, available at https://time.com/5335111/donald-trump-nato-spending-
- 2 Andrew Roth and others, "Trump calls European Union a 'foe' – ahead of Russia and China," The Guardian, July 15, 2018, available at https://www.theguardian.com/usnews/2018/jul/15/donald-trump-vladimir-putin-helsinkirussia-indictments.
- 3 Yara Bayoumy, "The French Ambassador is Retiring. Here's What He Really Thinks About Washington," Defense One, April 22, 2019, available at https://www.defenseone.com/ ideas/2019/04/french-ambassador-retiring-today-hereswhat-he-really-thinks-about-washington/156441/.
- 4 Benn Steil, Marshall Plan: Dawn of the New Cold War (Simon & Schuster, 2018).
- 5 Charles Kupchan,"NATO Is Thriving in Spite of Trump," Foreign Affairs, March 20, 2019, available at https://www. foreignaffairs.com/articles/2019-03-20/nato-thriving-spitetrump.
- 6 Matt Browne, Max Bergmann, and Dalibor Rohac, "Beyond Populism: European Politics in an Age of Fragmentation and Disruption" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/?p=475296.
- 7 Mark Leonard and Carl Bildt, "From Plaything to Player: How Europe Can Stand Up for Itself in the Next Five Years" (Berlin, Germany: European Council on Foreign Relations, 2019), available at https://www.ecfr.eu/page/-/From_plaything_to_player_ECFR.pdf.
- 8 Thomas Bagger, "The World According to Germany: Reassessing 1989," The Washington Quarterly 41 (4) (2018): 53-63, available at https://www.atlantik-bruecke.org/theworld-according-to-germany-reassessing-1989/.
- 9 Geir Lundestad, 'Empire' by Integration: The United States and European Integration, 1945-1997 (New York: Oxford University Press, 1998) p. 7.
- 10 Kelly Magsamen and others, "Securing a Democratic World: The Case for a Democratic Values-Based U.S. Foreign Policy" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ security/reports/2018/09/05/457451/securing-democratic-
- 11 Lundestad, 'Empire' by Integration, p. 10.
- 12 Francis Fukuyama, The End of History and the Last Man (New York: Free Press, 1992).
- 13 Mark Baker, "U.S.: Rumsfeld's 'Old' And 'New' Europe Touches On Uneasy Divide," Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty, January 24, 2003, available at https://www.rferl. org/a/1102012.html.
- 14 Max Bergmann, "U.S. Neglect May Be Just What the EU Needs," World Politics Review, March 9, 2010, available at https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/articles/5241/u-sneglect-may-be-just-what-the-eu-needs.
- 15 Thomas Wright, "A post-American Europe and the future of U.S. strategy" (Washington: Brookings Institution, 2017), available at https://www.brookings.edu/research/a-postamerican-europe-and-the-future-of-u-s-strategy/.
- 16 Ibid.

- 17 Theodore R. Bromund, "The Top Ten US Myths About the European Union" (Washington: The Heritage Foundation, 2016), available at https://www.heritage.org/europe/ commentary/the-top-ten-us-myths-about-the-european-
- 18 Sally McNamara, "The EU's Common Foreign and Security Policy: How It Threatens Transatlantic Security" (Washington: The Heritage Foundation, 2009), available at https:// www.heritage.org/europe/report/the-eus-commonforeign-and-security-policy-how-it-threatens-transatlantic-
- 19 Donald J. Trump, @realDonaldTrump, August 18, 2018, 5:11 a.m. ET, Twitter, available at https://twitter.com/realdonaldtrump/status/766246213079498752?lang=en.
- 20 Tucker Higgins, "Trump encourages no-deal Brexit ahead of state visit, offers Britain trade deal with US," CNBC, June 2, 2019, available at https://www.cnbc.com/2019/06/02/ trump-tells-uk-to-walk-away-if-eu-doesnt-agree-to-brexitdeal.html.
- 21 D. Parvaz, "John Bolton makes grand trade promise to UK - if it leaves the EU,"ThinkProgress, August 13, 2019, available at https://thinkprogress.org/john-bolton-ismaking-grand-trade-promises-to-the-uk-when-it-leavesthe-european-union-69a58731cf0d/.
- 22 U.S. Department of State, "Restoring the Role of the Nation-State in the Liberal International Order," December 4, 2018, available at https://www.state.gov/restoringthe-role-of-the-nation-state-in-the-liberal-international-
- 23 Julie Smith, "Pompeo's Speech in Brussels Was Tone-Deaf and Arrogant," Foreign Policy, December 7, 2018, available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2018/12/07/pompeosspeech-in-brussels-was-tone-deaf-and-arrogant/.
- 24 Julian Borger, "Trump administration downgrades EU's status in US, without informing Brussels," The Guardian, January 8, 2019, available at https://www.theguardian. com/us-news/2019/jan/08/trump-administration-downgrades-european-union-status.
- 25 Wright, "A post-American Europe and the future of U.S. strategy.
- 26 David Brunnstrom, "EU says it has solved the Kissinger question," Reuters, November 19, 2009, available at https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-eu-president-kissinger/ eu-says-it-has-solved-the-kissinger-question-idUS-TRE5AJ00B20091120.
- 27 McNamara, "The EU's Common Foreign and Security
- 28 Hans Kundnani, "Rethinking European Integration," The American Interest, July 9, 2018, available at https://www. the-american-interest.com/2018/07/09/rethinking-european-integration/.
- 29 Steven Erlanger, "Austerity-Battered U.K. 'Retreating Behind a Nuclear Shield," The New York Times, April 27, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2019/04/27/world/ europe/austerity-britain-military.html.
- 30 BBC, "Syria crisis: Cameron loses Commons vote on Syria action," August 30, 2013, available at https://www.bbc. com/news/uk-politics-23892783.

- 31 Michael Birnbaum, "Who becomes the U.S.'s best friend in Europe after Britain leaves the E.U.?", The Washington Post, November 24, 2018, available at https://www. washingtonpost.com/world/europe/who-becomesthe-uss-best-friend-in-europe-after-britain-leavesthe-eu/2018/11/24/3b17ab2a-ec15-11e8-8b47bd0975fd6199 storv.html.
- 32 Desmond Dinan, Europe Recast: A History of European Union (Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 2014), p. 76.
- 33 Nicholas Watt, Paul Lewis and Tania Branigan, "US anger at Britain joining Chinese-led investment bank AIIB," The Guardian, March 12, 2015, available at https://www. theguardian.com/us-news/2015/mar/13/white-housepointedly-asks-uk-to-use-its-voice-as-part-of-chinese-ledbank.
- 34 Stephen Castle, "U.K. Lawmakers Say Dirty Russian Money Is Still Flowing to London," The New York Times, May 21, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/21/ world/europe/uk-russia-money-laundering-london.html.
- 35 The Economist, "France may take the lead in fighting jihadists," September 20, 2018 available at https://www. economist.com/middle-east-and-africa/2018/09/20/ france-may-take-the-lead-in-fighting-iihadists.
- 36 Gouvernement.fr, "French military forces deployed in operations abroad," available at https://www.gouvernement.fr/en/french-military-forces-deployed-in-operationsabroad (last accessed August 2019).
- 37 Alice Billon-Galland and Martin Quencez, "European Intervention Initiative: The Big Easy." Berlin Policy Journal, October 15, 2018, available at https://berlinpolicyjournal. com/european-intervention-initiative-the-big-easy/.
- 38 Andrew Walker, "What is the French economic problem?", BBC, April 29, 2016, available at https://www.bbc.com/ news/business-36152571; Benjamin Haddad, "Macron's moment of reckoning," Politico, December 7, 2018, available at https://www.politico.eu/article/yellow-jacketprotest-paris-france-emmanuel-macrons-moment-ofreckoning/.
- 39 Emmanuel Macron, "For European renewal," Élysée, Press release, March 4, 2019, available at https://www.elysee.fr/ emmanuel-macron/2019/03/04/for-european-renewal. en; Matthew Karnitschnig and Pierre Briançon, "Angela Merkel dashes Emmanuel Macron's eurozone dreams," Politico, June 4, 2018, available at https://www.politico.eu/ article/an-offer-emmanuel-macron-cant-refuse-eurozonebudget-angela-merkel/.
- 40 Ulrike Franke, "It Is Time for Germans to Talk About Sicherheitspolitik," War on the Rocks, February 19, 2019, available at https://warontherocks.com/2019/02/it-is-timefor-germans-to-talk-about-sicherheitspolitik/.
- 41 Peter Bergmann, "American Exceptionalism and German Sonderweg in Tandem," The International History Review 23 (3) (2001): 505-534, available at https://www.tandfonline. com/doi/abs/10.1080/07075332.2001.9640939.
- 42 Thomas Bagger, "The World According to Germany: Reassessing 1989," The Washington Quarterly 41 (4) (2018): 53-63, available at https://www.atlantik-bruecke.org/theworld-according-to-germany-reassessing-1989/.
- 43 Lindsey Graham, @LindseyGrahamSC, September 4, 2019, 9:49 p.m. ET. Twitter, available at https://twitter.com/ lindsevgrahamsc/status/1169291529493594112?lang=en.
- 44 Clemens Wergin, "Angela Merkel Is Not the 'Leader of the Free World," The New York Times, March 4, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2018/03/04/opinion/angelamerkel-leader-free-world.html.
- 45 Julianne Smith, "Angela Merkel Could Save Europe. Why Won't She?", The New York Times, October 12, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2018/10/12/opinion/ merkel-macron-europe-future.html.

- 46 Adam Tooze, Crashed: How a Decade of Financial Crises Changed the World (New York: Viking Press, 2018).
- 47 Martin Wolf, "Jens Weidmann casts a shadow over the ECB," Financial Times, June 11, 2019, available at https://www. ft.com/content/a47db042-8b92-11e9-a1c1-51bf8f989972.
- 48 Andrea Shalal, "Military gets a boost in revised German spending plan," Reuters, November 5, 2018, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/us-germany-military/ military-gets-a-boost-in-revised-german-spending-planidUSKCN1NA2M4.
- 49 John Vandiver, "As Germany prepares for NATO crisisresponse role, its military readiness is 'abysmal," Stars and Stripes, May 16, 2018, available at https://www.stripes. com/news/as-germany-prepares-for-nato-crisis-responserole-its-military-readiness-is-abysmal-1.527253.
- 50 Timothy Gardner and Patricia Zengerle, "Senate panel backs Nord Stream 2 pipeline sanctions bill," Reuters, July 31, 2019, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/ us-usa-senate-nord-stream-2/senate-panel-backs-nordstream-2-pipeline-sanctions-bill-idUSKCN1UQ22D.
- 51 Smith, "Angela Merkel Could Save Europe. Why Won't She?".
- 52 Constanze Stelzenmüller, "Germany: Baffled hegemon" (Washington: Brookings Institution, 2019), available at https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/FP_20190226_germany_stelzenmuller.pdf.
- 53 Bryan Bender and Wesley Morgan, "How U.S. military aid became a lifeline for Ukraine," Politico, September 30, 2019, available at https://www.politico.com/news/2019/09/30/ ukraine-united-states-military-aid-013792.
- 54 Michael D. Shear, Mark Landler, and James Kanter, "In NATO Speech, Trump Is Vague About Mutual Defense Pledge," The New York Times, May 25, 2017, available at https:// www.nytimes.com/2017/05/25/world/europe/donaldtrump-eu-nato.html.
- 55 Office of the Under Secretary of Defense (Comptroller), "European Deterrence Initiative" (Washington: U.S. Department of Defense, 2019), available at https://comptroller. defense.gov/Portals/45/Documents/defbudget/fy2020/ fy2020_EDI_JBook.pdf.
- 56 Mark Newton and others, "More Than Burden Sharing: Five Objectives for the 2018 NATO Summit" (Washington: Center for a New American Security, 2018), available at https://www.cnas.org/publications/reports/more-thanburden-sharing-five-objectives-for-the-2018-nato-summit.
- 57 Kupchan, "NATO Is Thriving in Spite of Trump."
- 58 Andrius Sytas, "Baltics, fearing Russia, to triple military spending by 2018: report," Reuters, October 19, 2016, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/us-baltics military/baltics-fearing-russia-to-triple-military-spendingby-2018-report-idUSKCN12J2S4.
- 59 Simon Johnson, "Sweden to boost Gotland air defense amid Russia tensions," Reuters, July 1, 2019, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/us-sweden-defence-gotland/sweden-to-boost-gotland-air-defense-amid-russiatensions-idUSKCN1TW27U; Defence Blog, "Romania to buy additional F-16 fighter jets from Portugal," April 25, 2019, available at https://defence-blog.com/news/romania-tobuy-additional-f-16-fighter-jets-from-portugal.html.
- 60 Joe Gould, "Nancy Pelosi named in big US delegation to Munich forum, but government shutdown looms," Defense News, February 12, 2019, available at https://www.defensenews.com/congress/2019/02/12/nancy-pelosi-namedin-big-us-delegation-to-munich-forum-but-shutdownlooms/.
- 61 Erlanger, "Austerity-Battered U.K. 'Retreating Behind a Nuclear Shield"

- 62 Leonard Schuette, "Should the EU make foreign policy decisions by majority voting?" (London, UK: Center for European Reform, 2019), available at https://www.cer.eu/ sites/default/files/pbrief_qmv_15.5.19_1.pdf.
- 63 Mark Leonard and Hans Kundnani, "Think Again: European Decline," Foreign Policy, April 29, 2013, available at https:// foreignpolicy.com/2013/04/29/think-again-europeandecline/.
- 64 Dinan, Europe Recast.
- 65 Steil, Marshall Plan.
- 66 U.S. Department of State, "Secretary of State Madeleine K. Albright: Statement to the North Atlantic Council," December 8, 1998, available at https://1997-2001.state.gov/ statements/1998/981208.html.
- 67 Max Bergmann, "Europe Is Back," Foreign Policy, July 17, 2019, available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/07/17/ europe-is-back/.
- 68 Ellen M. Lord and Andrea L. Thompson, U.S. Department of Defense and U.S. Department of State, May 1, 2019, available at https://int.nyt.com/data/documenthelper/1073-19-5-1-02-letter-to-hrvp-moghe/6cdebd319d226b532785/ optimized/full.pdf#page=1.
- 69 Cynthia Kroet, "UK defense secretary: We will continue to block EU army," Politico, October, 4, 2016, available at https://www.politico.eu/article/uk-defense-secretarymichael-fallon-we-will-continue-to-block-eu-army-nato/; Marcin Zaborowski, "Poland and European Defense Integration" (Berlin, Germany: European Council on Foreign Relations, 2018), available at https://www.ecfr.eu/page/-/ poland_and_european_defence_integrationFINAL.pdf.
- 70 Javier Solana, "What Trump Gets Wrong About EU Defense," European Western Balkans, July 24, 2018, available at https://europeanwesternbalkans.com/2018/07/24/trumpgets-wrong-eu-defense/.
- 71 Steil, Marshall Plan.
- 72 Lundestad, 'Empire' by Integration.
- 73 Steil, Marshall Plan.
- 74 Kieran Devine, "Britain's wartime generation are almost as pro-EU as millennials." The London School of Economics and Political Science, March 22, 2019, available at https:// blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/over-65s-brexit/.
- 75 Browne, Bergmann, and Rohac, "Beyond Populism,"
- 76 Paul Krugman, "Germany's Real Sin," The New York Times, May 27, 2017, available at https://krugman.blogs.nytimes. com/2017/05/27/germanys-real-sin/.
- 77 Mark Blyth and Simon Tilford, "How the Eurozone Might Split," Foreign Affairs, January 11, 2018, available at https:// www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/europe/2018-01-11/howeurozone-might-split.
- 78 European Commission, "Stability and Growth Pact," available at https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/ economic-and-fiscal-policy-coordination/eu-economicgovernance-monitoring-prevention-correction/stabilityand-growth-pact_en (last accessed August 2019).
- 79 Paul Krugman, "Europe's Trap," The New York Times, January 5, 2015, available at https://krugman.blogs.nytimes. com/2015/01/05/europes-trap/.
- 80 Hans Kundnani, The Paradox of German Power (Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 2015), p. 109.
- 81 Ashoka Mody, EuroTragedy: A Drama in Nine Acts (Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 2018).

- 82 Simon Constable, "Doomed: How There's No Way Out Of The Debt Crisis For Italy," Forbes, June 20, 2019, available at https://www.forbes.com/sites/simonconstable/2019/06/20/doomed-how-theres-no-way-out-of-thedebt-crisis-for-italy/#1a77fc268bbd.
- 83 Desmond Lachman, "An Italian debt crisis would be like Greece on steroids," American Enterprise Institute, August 12, 2019, available at https://www.aei.org/publication/anitalian-debt-crisis-would-be-like-greece-on-steroids/.
- 84 Arthur Sullivan, "Debate and doom loops: The eurozone's Italian nightmare," Deutsche Welle, August 14, 2019, available at https://www.dw.com/en/debt-and-doom-loopsthe-eurozones-italian-nightmare/a-50019077.
- 85 Paul J. Davies and Patricia Kowsmann, "Germany's Longest Bond Goes Negative for First Time," The Wall Street Journal, August 2, 2019, available at https://www.wsj.com/ articles/germanys-longest-bond-goes-negative-for-firsttime-11564751881; Virginia Furness and Saikat Chatterjee, "UPDATE 3-Italy yields set for biggest weekly rise in 2019 as government on brink of collapse," Reuters, August 9, 2019, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/eurozonebonds-italy/update-2-italys-bond-yields-rise-after-salvinicalls-time-on-government-idUSL8N2551AQ.
- 86 Tooze, Crashed.
- 87 Kundnani, The Paradox of German Power, p. 109.
- 88 Thomas Wright, "The opening of Europe's Overton window (Washington: Brookings Institution, 2019), available at https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/FP_20190226_eu_democracy_wright.pdf.
- 89 Stephen Erlanger and Megan Specia, "European Parliament Elections: 5 Biggest Takeaways," The New York Times, May 27, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2019/05/27/world/europe/eu-election-takeaways.
- 90 Natalie Nougayrède, "The far right didn't sweep the EU elections. Europe's centre is holding," The Guardian, May 27, 2019, available at https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2019/may/27/far-right-eu-elections-europe-centregreen-liberal-surge.
- 91 Anne Applebaum, "Amid fractures, Europe is becoming a single political space," The Washington Post, May 27, 2019, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/ opinions/2019/05/27/amid-fractures-europe-is-becomingsingle-political-space/.
- 92 Silvia Aloisi, "Italy not thinking about leaving euro: Salvini," Reuters, August 10, 2019, available at https://www.reuters. com/article/us-italy-politics/italy-not-thinking-aboutleaving-euro-salvini-idUSKCN1V00I6.
- 93 Tom McTague, "How the UK lost the Brexit battle," Politico, March 27, 2019, available at https://www.politico.eu/ article/how-uk-lost-brexit-eu-negotiation/.
- 94 Susi Dennison, "Anti-Europe Parties Aren't Anti-Europe Anymore," Foreign Policy, May 7, 2019, available at https:// foreignpolicy.com/2019/05/07/anti-europe-parties-arentanti-europe-anymore/.
- 95 Nougayrède, "The far right didn't sweep the EU elections. Europe's centre is holding."
- 96 Browne, Bergmann, and Rohac, "Beyond Populism."
- 97 Martin Russell, "Sanctions over Ukraine: Impact on Russia" (Brussels, Belgium: European Parliamentary Research Service, 2018), available at https://www.europarl. europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2018/614665/EPRS_ BRI(2018)614665_EN.pdf.

- 98 Matina Stevis-Gridneff, "E.U.'s New Digital Czar: 'Most Powerful Regulator of Big Tech on the Planet", The New York Times, September 10, 2019, available at https://www. nytimes.com/2019/09/10/world/europe/margrethevestager-european-union-tech-regulation.html.
- 99 Abby Budiman and Dorothy Manevich, "Few see EU as world's top economic power despite its relative might." Pew Research Center, August 9, 2017, available at https:// www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/08/09/few-seeeu-as-worlds-top-economic-power-despite-its-relativemiaht/.
- 100 Schuette, "Should the EU make foreign policy decisions by majority voting?".
- 101 Max Bergmann, "An Alliance in Crisis: Europe Needs to Act Quickly to Defend Itself" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/reports/2017/06/01/433466/ alliance-crisis-europe-needs-act-quickly-defend/.
- 102 EU Navfor, "Home," available at https://eunavfor.eu/ (last accessed August 2019).
- 103 Browne, Bergmann, and Rohac, "Beyond Populism."
- 104 Timothy Garton Ash, "Why we must not let Europe break apart," The Guardian, May 9, 2019, available at https://www. theguardian.com/world/2019/may/09/why-we-must-notlet-europe-break-apart.
- 105 Julian Bergmann, "Neofunctionalism and EU external policy integration: the case of capacity building in support of security and development (CBSD)," Journal of European Public Policy 26 (4) (2019): 1253-1272, available at https:// www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13501763.2018.15 26204.
- 106 Richard N. Haass, "Why Europe no longer matters," The Washington Post, June 17, 2011, available at https://www. washingtonpost.com/opinions/why-europe-no-longermatters/2011/06/15/AG7eCCZH_story.html?utm.
- 107 Walter Russell Mead, "Incredible Shrinking Europe," The Wall Street Journal, February 11, 2019, available at https://www.wsj.com/articles/incredible-shrinkingeurope-11549928481.
- 108 Fareed Zakaria. "Boris Johnson will accelerate the decline of Europe," The Washington Post, July 25, 2019, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/we-needeurope-to-preserve-world-order-britain-is-pushing-it-inthe-wrong-direction/2019/07/25/f431a122-af17-11e9 $bc5c\text{-}e73\bar{b}603e7f38_story.html.$
- 109 Leonard and Bildt, "From Plaything to Player."
- 110 Zakaria, "Boris Johnson will accelerate the decline of Europe:
- 111 Julianne Smith and Torrey Taussig, "The Old World and the Middle Kingdom," Foreign Affairs, August 12, 2019, available at https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ articles/china/2019-08-12/old-world-and-middlekingdom?amp=true.
- 112 Juan Pablo Cardenal and others, "Sharp Power: Rising Authoritarian Influence (Washington: National Endowment for Democracy, 2017), available at https://www.ned. org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Sharp-Power-Rising-Authoritarian-Influence-Full-Report.pdf.
- 113 Kelly Magsamen and others, "Securing a Democratic
- 114 Leonard and Bildt, "From Plaything to Player."
- 115 Max Bergmann, "Germany's Russia Moment," World Politics Review, May 19, 2009, available at https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/articles/3773/germanys-russia-moment.

- 116 Heather A. Conley and others, "The Kremlin Playbook 2: The Enablers (Washington: Center for Strategic and International Studies, 2019), available at https://csis-prod. s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/publication/190326_KP2.
- 117 Heather A. Conley and others, "The Kremlin Playbook: Understanding Russian Influence in Central and Eastern Europe" (Washington: Center for Strategic and International Studies, 2016), available at https://www.csis.org/ analysis/kremlin-playbook.
- 118 The Economist, "The Nord Stream 2 gas pipeline is a Russian trap," February 16, 2019, available at https://www. economist.com/leaders/2019/02/16/the-nord-stream-2-gas-pipeline-is-a-russian-trap.
- 119 Financial Times, "The Ties that bind Italy and Russia," October 29, 2017, available at https://www.ft.com/content/ ffbe03c0-b976-11e7-8c12-5661783e5589.
- 120 Oliver Bullough, "How Britain let Russia hide its dirty money," The Guardian, May 25, 2018, available at https:// www.theguardian.com/news/2018/may/25/how-britainlet-russia-hide-its-dirty-money; Luke Harding, A Very Expensive Poison: The Assassination of Alexander Litvinenko and Putin's War with the West (Norwich, UK: Guardian Faber Publishina, 2016).
- 121 James Lamond and Talia Dessel, "Democratic Resilience: A Comparative Review of Russian Interference in Democratic Elections and Lessons Learned for Securing Future Elections" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/reports/2019/09/03/473770/democratic-resilience/.
- 122 Jean-Baptiste Jeagène Vilmer, "The '#Macron leaks' operation: a post-mortem" (Washington: Atlantic Council, 2019), available at https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/publications/ reports/the-macron-leaks-operation-a-post-mortem/.
- 123 Max Bergmann and Carolyn Kenney, "War by Other Means: Russian Active Measures and the Weaponization of Information" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/reports/2017/06/06/433345/war-by-other-means/.
- 124 Carolyn Kenney, Max Bergmann, and James Lamond, "Understanding and Combating Russian and Chinese Influence Operations" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/reports/2019/02/28/466669/ understanding-combating-russian-chinese-influenceoperations/.
- 125 Laurens Cerulus and Jakob Hanke, "Enter the dragon," Politico, October 4, 2017, available at https://www.politico. eu/article/china-and-the-troika-portugal-foreign-investment-screening-takeovers-europe/.
- 126 Jonathan E. Hillman and Maesea McCalpin, "Will China's '16+1' Format Divide Europe?", Center for Strategic and International Studies, April 11, 2019, available at https:// www.csis.org/analysis/will-chinas-161-format-divideeurope.
- 127 John Macri, "How Hungary's Path Leads to China's Belt and Road," The Diplomat, April 11, 2019, available at https:// thediplomat.com/2019/04/how-hungarys-path-leads-tochinas-belt-and-road/.
- 128 Eric Reguly, "China's Piraeus power play: In Greece, a port project offers Beijing leverage over Europe," The Globe and Mail, July 7, 2019, available at https://www.theglobeandmail.com/world/article-chinas-piraeus-power-play-ingreece-a-port-project-offers-beijing/.
- 129 Robin Emmott, "EU's statement on South China Sea reflects divisions," Reuters, July 15, 2016, available at https://www. reuters.com/article/us-southchinasea-ruling-eu/eus-statement-on-south-china-sea-reflects-divisions-idUSKCN0Z-

- 130 Andrea Kendall-Taylor and Rachel Rizzo, "The U.S. or China? Europe Needs to Pick a Side," Politico, August 12, 2019, available at https://www.politico.com/magazine/ story/2019/08/12/us-china-europe-relations-227614.
- 131 Thorsten Benner and others, "Authoritarian Advance: Responding to China's Growing Political Influence in Europe" (Berlin, Germany: Global Public Policy Institute, 2018), available at https://www.gppi.net/2018/02/05/ authoritarian-advance-responding-to-chinas-growingpolitical-influence-in-europe.
- 132 Ibid
- 133 Garton Ash, "Why we must not let Europe break apart."
- 134 William Burns, Back Channel: A Memoir of American Diplomacy and the Case for Its Renewal (New York: Random House, 2019).
- 135 Benjamin Haddad and Alina Polyakova, "Is Going It Alone the Best Way Forward for Europe?", Foreign Affairs, October 17, 2018, available at https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ articles/europe/2018-10-17/going-it-alone-best-wayforward-europe.
- 136 Kundnani, "Rethinking European Integration."
- 137 Lundestad, 'Empire' by Integration, p. 8.
- 138 Ulrike Franke and Tara Varma, "Independence Play: Europe's Pursuit of Strategic Autonomy" (Berlin, Germany: European Council on Foreign Relations, 2019), available at https://www.ecfr.eu/specials/scorecard/independence_ play_europes_pursuit_of_strategic_autonomy.
- 139 John Kerry and Penny Pritzker, "How India and the United States Are Building a 21st-Century Partnership," Foreign Policy, September 24, 2015, available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2015/09/24/how-india-and-the-united-statesare-building-a-21st-century-partnership/.
- 140 Sophia Besch and Beth Oppenheim, "The EU needs an effective common arms export policy" (London, UK: Center for European Reform, 2019), available at https://www.cer. eu/sites/default/files/bulletin_126_article2_SB-BO.pdf.
- 141 David Livingston and Erik Brattberg, "Beyond Fatalism: Transatlantic Energy and Climate Cooperation After the Paris Announcement" (Washington: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2017), available at https:// carnegieendowment.org/2017/07/05/bevond-fatalismtransatlantic-energy-and-climate-cooperation-after-parisannouncement-pub-71443.
- 142 Council of the European Union, "Voting System" available at https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/council-eu/votingsystem/qualified-majority/ (last accessed October 2019).
- 143 European Commission, "Speech by President Jean-Claude Juncker at the 54th Munich Security Conference," February 17, 2018, available at https://europa.eu/rapid/pressrelease_SPEECH-18-841_en.htm.
- 144 Violetta Rusheva, "Hungary blocks joint EU-Arab League statement over migration issue," New Europe, February 7, 2019, available at https://www.neweurope.eu/article/ hungary-blocks-joint-eu-arab-league-statement-overmigration-issue/.
- 145 Schuette, "Should the EU make foreign policy decisions by majority voting?".
- 146 European Commission, "A stronger global actor: a more efficient decision-making for EU Common Foreign and Security Policy," Press release, December 9, 2018, available at https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/ files/soteu2018-efficient-decision-making-cfsp-communication-647_en.pdf.

- 147 Leonard Schuette, "One Year Since Macron's Sorbonne Speech: Plus Ça Change?" (London, UK: Center for European Reform, 2018), available at https://www.cer.eu/insights/ one-year-macrons-sorbonne-speech-plus-ça-change.
- 148 Karnitschnig and Briançon, "Angela Merkel dashes Emmanuel Macron's eurozone dreams."
- 149 Zach Carter and Daniel Marans, "Why Obama Is Leaving Greece To Fend For Itself Against Germany," HuffPost, July 8, 2015, available at https://www.huffpost.com/entry/ obama-greece-germany_n_7754888.
- 150 Financial Times, "Trump's top trade adviser accuses Germany of currency exploitation," January 31, 2017, available at https://www.ft.com/content/57f104d2-e742-11e6-893c-082c54a7f539.
- 151 Zach Beauchamp, "It happened there: how democracy died in Hungary," Vox, September 13, 2018, available at https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2018/9/13/17823488/hungary-democracy-authoritarianism-trump.
- 152 Anne Applebaum, "A Warning From Europe: The Worst Is Yet to Come," The Atlantic, October 2018, available at https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2018/10/ poland-polarization/568324/.
- 153 Max Hoffman, "Responding to Turkey's Purchase of Russia's S-400 Missile System" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/reports/2019/03/21/467518/ responding-turkeys-purchase-russias-s-400-missilesystem/.
- 154 Antony J. Blinken, "A Speech on The United States, Europe, and the NATO Alliance by U.S. Deputy Secretary of State Antony J. Blinken," The German Marshall Fund of the United States, May 5, 2016, available at http://www. gmfus.org/events/speech-united-states-europe-and-natoalliance-us-deputy-secretary-state-antony-j-blinken.
- 155 NBC News, "Here's the Full Text of Donald Trump's Speech in Poland," July 6, 2017, available at https://www.nbcnews. com/politics/donald-trump/here-s-full-text-donald-trumps-speech-poland-n780046.
- 156 Asle Toje, America, The EU, and Strategic Culture; Renegotiating the Transatlantic Bargain (London and New York: Routledge, 2008), p. 26.
- 157 Centre vitruel de la connaissance sur l'Europe, "The failure of the European Defence Community (EDC)," available at https://www.cvce.eu/en/education/unit-content/-/ unit/1c8aa583-8ec5-41c4-9ad8-73674ea7f4a7/bd191c42-0f53-4ec0-a60a-c53c72c747c2 (last accessed August 2019)
- 158 Schuette, "Should the EU make foreign policy decisions by majority voting?".
- 159 Seth Johnston, How NATO Adapts: Strategy and Organization in the Atlantic Alliance Since 1950 (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2017).
- 160 Sophia Besch, "NATO Defence Spending: Money Can't Buy You Solidarity" (London, UK: Center for European Reform, 2016), available at https://www.cer.eu/insights/natodefence-spending-money-cant-buy-you-solidarity.
- 161 European Union, "Pesco Member States Driven," available at https://pesco.europa.eu/ (last accessed September 2019)
- 162 Steven Erlanger, "U.S. Revives Concerns About European Defense Plans, Rattling NATO Allies," The New York Times, February 18, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2018/02/18/world/europe/nato-europe-us-.html.

- 163 Aaron Mehta, "US cautiously watching EU military proposal," Defense News, February 13, 2018, available at https:// www.defensenews.com/global/europe/2018/02/13/uscautiously-watching-eu-military-proposal/.
- 164 U.K. Cabinet Office, U.K. Foreign and Commonwealth Office, and U.K. Ministry of Defense, "The UK-US Defense Trade Cooperation Treaty" (London, UK: 2018), available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-uk-usdefense-trade-cooperation-treaty; Australian Government Department of Defense, "Australia-US Defence Trade Cooperation Treaty: About the Treaty," available at http:// www.defence.gov.au/ustradetreaty/aboutthetreaty.asp (last accessed August 2019).
- 165 Judy Dempsey, "The Insincere Calls for a European Army," Carnegie Europe, September 6, 2016, available at https:// carnegieeurope.eu/strategiceurope/64483.
- 166 North Atlantic Treaty Organization, "Relations with the European Union," August 12, 2019, available at https://www. nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics_49217.htm (last accessed August 2019).
- 167 Max Bergmann, "To Help NATO Allies Get Off Russian Equipment, The United States Should Revive Defense Lending," War On The Rocks, February 14, 2018, available at https://warontherocks.com/2018/02/help-nato-alliesget-off-russian-equipment-united-states-revive-defenselendina/.
- 168 Max Bergmann and Carolyn Kenney, "Acts of an Adversary: Russia's Ongoing Hostilities Toward the United States and its Allies" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/security/reports/2017/12/05/443574/acts-of-anadversary/.
- 169 Bergmann, "Germany's Russia Moment."
- 170 Victor Mallet, James Shotter, and Michael Peel, "Emmanuel Macron's pivot to Russia sparks EU unease," Financial Times, September 11, 2019, available at https://www.ft.com/ content/00ac54f4-d30f-11e9-8367-807ebd53ab77.
- 171 Darko Janjevic, "Vladimir Putin and Viktor Orban's special relationship," Deutsche Welle, September 18, 2018, available at https://www.dw.com/en/vladimir-putin-and-viktororbans-special-relationship/a-45512712.
- 172 Alberto Nardelli, "Revealed: The Explosive Secret Recording That Shows How Russia Tried To Funnel Millions To The 'European Trump'' Buzzfeed News, July 10, 2019, available at https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/albertonardelli/ salvini-russia-oil-deal-secret-recording.
- 173 Keith Johnson, "France and Germany Face Off Over Russian Pipeline," Foreign Policy, February 7, 2019, available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/02/07/france-and-germany-face-off-over-russian-pipeline-nord-stream-putinmacron-merkel/.
- 174 Bellingcat Investigation Team, "Full report: Skripal Poisoning Suspect Dr. Alexander Mishkin, Hero of Russia," Bellingcat, October 9, 2018, available at https://www.bellingcat. com/news/uk-and-europe/2018/10/09/full-report-skripalpoisoning-suspect-dr-alexander-mishkin-hero-russia/.
- 175 BBC, "How the Dutch foiled Russian 'cyber-attack' on OPCW," October 4, 2018, available at https://www.bbc. com/news/world-europe-45747472.
- 176 Alina Polyakova and others, "The Kremlin's Trojan Horses" (Washington: Atlantic Council, 2018), available at https:// www.atlanticcouncil.org/publications/reports/the-kremlins-trojan-horses-3-0.
- 177 Max Bergmann, "How Putin Could Strike Back," HuffPost, August 7, 2017, available at https:// www.huffpost.com/entry/how-putin-could-strikeback_b_5988ffd0e4b0449ed504e9b3.

- 178 Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty, "Moscow Court Extends Detention For Captured Ukrainian Sailors," July 17, 2019, available at https://www.rferl.org/a/ukrainian-sailors-incourt/30060644.html.
- 179 Robert S. Mueller III, "Report On The Investigation Into Russian Interference In The 2016 Presidential Election" (Washington: U.S. Department of Justice, 2019), available at https://www.cnn.com/2019/04/18/politics/full-muellerreport-pdf/index.html.
- 180 Gregory Viscusi, "Macron Calls for EU Agency to Stop Cyber-Attacks on Elections," Bloomberg, March 4, 2019, available at https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-03-04/macron-wants-to-create-eu-agency-tostop-meddling-in-elections.
- 181 Bergmann and Kenney, "War by Other Means."
- 182 Julianne Smith, "If Trump Wants to Take On China, He Needs Allies," The New York Times, June 12, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/12/opinion/chinaeurope-trump.html.
- 183 Kupchan, "NATO Is Thriving in Spite of Trump"; Kenney, Bergmann, and Lamond, "Understanding and Combating Russian and Chinese Influence Operations."
- 184 Erik Brattberg, "Should Europe Buy Chinese 5G Technology?", Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, March 18, 2019, available at https://carnegieendowment. org/2019/03/18/should-europe-buy-chinese-5g-technology-pub-78610.
- 185 Magsamen and others, "Securing a Democratic World."
- 186 Julian E. Barnes, Eric Schmitt, and David Kirkpatrick, "Tell Your Boss': Recording Is Seen to Link Saudi Crown Prince More Strongly to Khashoggi Killing," The New York Times, November 12, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2018/11/12/world/middleeast/jamal-khashoggikilling-saudi-arabia.html.
- 187 Daniel S. Hamilton, "Creating a North Atlantic Marketplace for Jobs and Growth: Three Paths, One Detour, a U-Turn, and the Road to Nowhere" (Washington: Center for Transatlantic Relations, 2018), available at https://archive. transatlanticrelations.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/ JHU-NA-Trade-Report-180126-PRINT-003.pdf.
- 188 Ibid
- 189 Tom Embury-Dennis, "Trump threatens trade war with EU over Harley Davidson tariffs: 'We will Reciprocate!", The Independent, April 23, 2019, available at https://www. independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/us-politics/ trump-eu-trade-war-us-harley-davidson-tariffs-twitterlatest-a8882281.html.
- 190 Kendall-Taylor and Rizzo, "The U.S. or China? Europe Needs to Pick a Side."
- 191 Hamilton, "Creating a North Atlantic Marketplace for Jobs and Growth.
- 192 Julia Rone, "Why Europeans may not want a U.S. trade deal," The Washington Post, October 4, 2018, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/monkey-cage/ wp/2018/10/04/why-europeans-may-not-want-a-u-strade-deal/.
- 193 Hamilton, "Creating a North Atlantic Marketplace for Jobs and Growth"
- 194 Melanie Hart and Kelly Magsamen, "Limit, Leverage, and Compete: A New Strategy on China" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/ reports/2019/04/03/468136/limit-leverage-compete-newstrategy-china/.

- 195 Kevin Barefoot and others, "Defining and Measuring the Digital Economy" (Washington: U.S. Department of Commerce Bureau of Economic Affairs, 2018), available at https://www.bea.gov/research/papers/2018/definingand-measuring-digital-economy/.
- 196 Rachel F. Fefer, Shayerah Ilias Akhtar, and Wayne M. Morrison, "Digital Trade and U.S. Trade Policy" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2018), available at https:// fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R44565.pdf; United Soybean Board, "Global Importers Demand More Soybeans," November 20, 2018, available at https://unitedsoybean.org/article/ global-importers-demand-more-soybeans; Hart and Magsamen, "Limit, Leverage, and Compete."
- 197 Pedro Nicolaci da Costa, "The ultrawealthy have 10% of global GDP stashed in tax havens - and it's making inequality worse than it appears," Business Insider, September 13, 2017, available at https://www.businessinsider.com/ wealthy-money-offshore-makes-inequality-look-even-
- 198 Jim Brunsden and Mehreen Khan, "Politicing the Policemen," Financial Times, September 4, 2019, available at https://www.ft.com/content/b38c86aa-cf79-11e9-99a4b5ded7a7fe3f.
- 199 Francesco Guarascio, "Explainer: Europe's money laundering scandal," Reuters, April 4, 2019, available at https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-europe-moneylaunderingexplainer/explainer-europes-money-laundering-scandalidUSKCN1RG1XI
- 200 European Commission, "Statement By First Vice-President Timmermans, Vice-President Dombrovskis and Commissioner Jourovà on the adoption by the European Parliament of the 5th Anti-Money Laundering Directive," Press release, April 19, 2018, available at https://europa.eu/ rapid/press-release_STATEMENT-18-3429_en.htm.
- 201 Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, "FINCEN Reissues Real Estate Geographic Targeting Orders and Expands Coverage to 12 Metropolitan Areas," Press release, November 15, 2018, available at https://www.fincen.gov/news/newsreleases/fincen-reissues-real-estate-geographic-targetingorders-and-expands-coverage-12/.
- 202 Joshua Kirschenbaum and Nicolas Véron, "The European Union must change its supervisory architecture to fight money laundering" (Brussels, Belgium: Bruegel, 2019), available at https://bruegel.org/2019/02/the-europeanunion-must-change-its-supervisory-architecture-to-fightmoney-laundering/.
- 203 Quirin Schiermeier, "New EU chief makes bold climate pledges," Nature, July 17, 2019, available at https://www. nature.com/articles/d41586-019-02204-4.

- 204 Justin Worland, "Europe May Use Trump's Favorite Economic Weapon to Punish His Inaction on Climate Change," Time, May 3, 2019, available at https://time.com/5582034/ carbon-tariff-tax-fee-europe-macron/.
- 205 Dan Bilefsky, "Sweden and Denmark Add Border Checks to Stem Flow of Migrants," The New York Times, January 4, 2016, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2016/01/05/ world/europe/sweden-denmark-border-check-migrants. html
- 206 Steven A. Cook, "Europe's Future Will Be Decided in North Africa," Foreign Policy, July 18, 2019, available at https:// foreignpolicy.com/2019/07/18/europes-future-will-bedecided-in-north-africa/.
- 207 Paul Stronski and Annie Himes, "Russia's Game in the Balkans" (Washington: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2019), available at https://carnegieendowment. org/2019/02/06/russia-s-game-in-balkans-pub-78235.
- 208 Cristina Maza, "Exclusive: Russian Military Spies Backed Attempt To Assassinate Leader Of Montenegro, Report Says," Newsweek, July 3, 2018, available at https://www. newsweek.com/exclusive-russian-military-spies-backedattempt-assassinate-leader-montenegro-1007324.
- 209 France 24, "As Balkans sit in EU's waiting room, China gets to work." October 4, 2019, available at https://www. france24.com/en/20190410-balkans-sit-eus-waiting-roomchina-gets-work.
- 210 Kingston Reif, "Trump to Withdraw U.S. From INF Treaty," Arms Control Association, November 2018, available at https://www.armscontrol.org/act/2018-11/news/trumpwithdraw-us-inf-treaty.
- 211 Shervin Taheran and Daryl G. Kimball, "Bolton Declares New START Extension 'Unlikely'", Arms Control Association, July/August 2019, available at https://www.armscontrol. org/act/2019-07/news/bolton-declares-new-start-exten-
- 212 The U.N. Office at Geneva, "Background on Lethal Autonomous Weapons Systems in the CCW," available at https:// www.unog.ch/80256EE600585943/(httpPages)/8FA3C2 562A60FF81C1257CE600393DF6?OpenDocument (last accessed August 2019).
- 213 Lundestad, 'Empire' by Integration, p. 7.

Our Mission

The Center for American
Progress is an independent,
nonpartisan policy institute
that is dedicated to improving
the lives of all Americans,
through bold, progressive
ideas, as well as strong
leadership and concerted
action. Our aim is not just to
change the conversation, but
to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

